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PREFACE




 




In a history mainly composed of

the incidents that indicate the growth of a community, and the direction and

character of it, where few are important enough to require an extended narration,

and the remainder afford little material, it is not easy to construct a

continuous narrative, or to so connect the unrelated points as to prevent the

work taking on the aspect of a pretentious directory. To collect in each year

the notable events of it is to make an excellent warehouse of historical

material; but, however authentic, it would hardly be interesting. Like the country

boy's objection to a dictionary, " the subject would change too

often." To combine, as far as practicable, the authenticity of an annuary

like that of Mr. Ignatius Brown in 1868, which has been freely used, or the

compilation of statistical and historical material made by Mr. Joseph T. Long

for Holloway's History in 1870, which has furnished valuable help in this work,

with some approach to the interest of a connected narrative, it has been

thought best to present, first, a general history of the city and the county up

to the outbreak of the civil war, throwing together in it all incidents which

have a natural association with each other or with some central incident or

locality, so as to make a kind of complete affair of that class of incidents. For

instance, the first jail is used to gather a group of the conspicuous crimes in

the history of the county, the old court-house to note the various uses to

which it was put during the city's progress through the nonage of a country

town to the maturity of a municipal government. Since the war the history was

thought more likely to be made intelligible and capable of retention and

reference by abandoning the form of a continuous narrative interjected with

groups of related incidents or events, and divide it into departments, and

treat each fully enough to cover all the points related to it that could be found

in an annuary, or a separation of the events of each year to itself. Thus it

has been the purpose to throw into the chapter on schools all that is worth

telling of what is known of the early schools, besides what is related of them

in the general history, with no special reference to the date of any school,

while the history of the public schools is traced almost exclusively by

official reports and documents. In manufactures it would have been impossible

to present a consecutive account if a chronological order had been followed, for

the facts are scattered through fifty years, from 1832 to 1882. By taking the

whole subject apart from the events with which its various parts are associated

by date, it is possible to group them so as to present a tolerably complete

view of the origin and progress of each part and of the whole. The military

rosters contain all the names of Marion County soldiers in the civil war who

enlisted for three years. The list of civil officers of the county is complete

and accurate, and was compiled for this work. It is the first ever published,

as is that of the township and city. The entries of land from 1821 to 1825 will

be found an interesting feature of the work, and will recall the name of many

an old settler who is almost forgotten now. Mr. Nowland's interesting

reminiscences and those of the late Hon. O. H. Smith have been freely used, as

well as the memories of some old settlers, as Mr. Robert B. Duncan, Gen.

Coburn, William H. Jones, Daniel Noe, and the writer's own occasionally. The

histories of the townships have been compiled substantially from the accounts

of the oldest and best-known settlers in each.




B. R. S. 




Indianapolis, Feb. 14, 1884


















 




 




CHAPTER I




 




Location of Marion County —

Topographical and General Description — Geology of the County— The Indian

Occupation. 




 




Marion County, in which is the

city of Indianapolis, the capital of Indiana, occupies a central position in

the State (as is mentioned more particularly hereafter), and is bounded on the

north by the counties of Boone and Hamilton, on the east by Hancock and Shelby,

on the south by Morgan and Johnson, and on the west by Hendricks County. Its

shape would be almost an exact square but for an inaccuracy in the government

survey, which makes a projection of four miles or sections in length by about three-fourths

of a mile in width at the northeast corner into the adjoining county of

Hancock, with a recess on the opposite side of equal length, and about one-fourth

of the width, occupied by a similar projection from Hendricks County. The civil

townships of the county follow the lines of the Congressional townships in

direction, except at the division of the townships of Decatur and Perry, which

follows the line of White River, taking off a considerable area of the former

and adding it to the latter township. The area of the county is about two

hundred and sixty thousand acres




Topography and General

Features. — Indianapolis, which is the county-seat

of Marion as well as the State capital, lies in latitude 39° 55', longitude 86°

5', very nearly in the center of the State and county. Mr. Samuel Merrill makes

it two miles northwest of the center of the State, and one mile southwest of

the center of the county. Professor R. T. Brown's Official Survey, in the

" State Geologist's Report,'' regards the entire county as part of a great

plain, nowhere, however, actually level over any considerable areas, with an

average elevation above low water in the river of about one hundred and

seventy-five feet, and of eight hundred and sixty above the sea-level.

Occasional elevations run to more than two hundred feet above the river-level,

and probably to nine hundred above the sea. The West Fork of White River,

running for twenty-two miles in a very tortuous course twenty degrees east of

north and west of south, divides the county unequally, the western fraction

being little more than half as large as the eastern, or one-third of the whole

area. The river valley varies from one to four miles in width, presenting a

bluff on the west side of fifty to two hundred feet through most of its extent,

and on the east side a gentle slope. Where the bluff comes up to the water on

one side the " bottom" recedes on the other, sometimes swampy, and

frequently cut up by " bayous" or supplementary outlets for freshets.

The current is on the bluff side, usually deep, swift, and clear. Occasionally

the low "bottom" land comes up to the water on both banks, but not

frequently. There are many gentle slopes and small elevations in and around the

city, but nothing that deserves the name of hill, except " Crown

Hill," at the cemetery north of the city, and one or two smaller

protuberances a mile or two south. All the streams that drain this undulating

plain flow in a general southwesterly direction on the east side of the river,

and southeasterly on the west side, proving, as the first secretary of the

State Board of Health says, that Indianapolis lies in a basin, the grade higher

on all sides than is the site of the city, except where the river makes its

exit from the southwest




Subordinate Valleys. — Dr. Brown says that " the glacial action, which left a

heavy deposit of transported material over the whole surface of the county, has

at the same time plowed out several broad valleys of erosion, which appear to

be tributary to the White River Valley." The most conspicuous of these

comes down from the northeast, between Fall Creek and White River, is about a

mile wide at the lower end, narrowing to the northeast for six or seven miles,

and disappearing near the northern line of the county. The grinding force has

cut away the surface clay, and in places filled the holes with gravel and

coarse sand. South of the city and east of the river are two other valleys of

the same kind. One, about a mile wide, extends from White River, a little north

of Glenn's Valley, about five miles to the northeast, with well-defined margins

composed of gravel terraces. The other lies chiefly in the county south of

Marion, and between it and the first-mentioned is a ridge called Poplar Hill,

composed of sand and gravel on a bed of blue clay. West of the river there is

but one of these valleys. It begins in Morgan County, and running a little

north of east enters Marion County, passing between West Newton and Valley

Mills, and connecting with White River Valley near the mouth of Dollarhide

Creek. A water-shed between the tributaries of the West Fork of White River and

the East Fork, or Driftwood, enters the county two miles from the southeast

corner, passing nearly north about twelve miles, makes an eastward bend and

passes out of the county. Unlike water-sheds generally, this one is not a ridge

or considerable elevation, but a marshy region overflowed in heavy rains, when

it is likely enough the overflow runs into either river as chance or the wind

directs it. These swampy sections lying high are readily drained, and make

excellent farming land




Streams. — Except Eagle Creek and its affluents, there are no considerable

streams entering the river in the county on the west side. There are Crooked

Creek north of Eagle, and Dollarhide Creek south, and several still smaller and

unnamed, except for neighborhood convenience, but they are little more than wet

weather " branches," or drains of swampy sections. Dr. Brown explains

this paucity of watercourses by the fact that a large stream called White Lick

rises northwest, flows along, partly in Hendricks and partly in Marion

Counties, parallel with the course of the river, and enters the latter in

Morgan County, thus cutting off the eastward course of minor streams by

receiving their waters itself On the east side of the river, which contains

nearly two-thirds of the area of the county, a considerable stream called Grass

Creek runs almost directly south for a dozen or more miles very near the

eastern border of the county, and finally finds its way into the East Fork. It

has a half-dozen or more little tributaries, as Buck Creek, Panther Run, Indian

Creek, Big Run, Wild Cat and Doe Creek. Of the east side streams tributary to

the West Fork of White River — far better known as White River than the short

course of the combined East and West Forks to the Wabash — Fall Creek is much

the most considerable. Except it, but a single small stream called Dry Run

enters the river north of the city. Fall Creek enters the county very near the

northeast corner, and flowing almost southwesterly enters the river now near

the northwest corner of the city. It formerly entered west of the center of the

city, but a " cut-off" was made nearly a mile or more farther north

for hygienic and economic reasons, and the mouth has thus been shifted

considerably. The main tributaries of Fall Creek are Mud Creek on the north,

and North Fork, Middle Fork, Dry Branch, and Indian Creek east and south. The

duplication of names of streams will be observed. There are two Buck Creeks,

two Dry, two Lick (one White), two Indian, and two Eagle Creeks in the county.

As few of these names are suggested by any special feature of the stream or

country, except Fall Creek, which is named from the falls at Pendleton, and Mud

and Dry Creeks, the duplication may be set down to the whims of the pioneers.

South of the city, on the east side of the river, the streams flowing directly

into the river are Pogue's Creek, passing directly through the city; Pleasant

Run, mainly east and south, but cutting into the southeast corner of the city

(Bean Creek is tributary to the latter), Lick Creek, and Buck Creek




Bottom Lands. — The valley of White River, says the Official Survey, is divided

into alluvium or bottom land proper and the terrace or second bottom. In that

portion of the valley that lies north of the mouth of Eagle Creek it consists

chiefly of second bottom, while the first bottom largely predominates in the southern

portion. Much of this latter is subject to overflow in times of freshets, so

that while the soil is exceedingly fertile and easy of cultivation a crop is never

safe. Levees have been made for considerable distances below the city, on the

river and on some of the larger creeks, to remedy the mischief of overflows, but,

the Survey says, with only partial success. The primary difficulty is the

tortuous courses of the streams, and of the river particularly, that runs a distance

of sixteen miles to the lower county line, which is but nine in a straight

line. This not only diminishes the fall per mile, but the water, moving in

curves and reversed curves, loses its momentum, the current becomes sluggish,

and when freshets come the accumulation overflows the low banks, and covers

large districts of cultivable and cultivated land, to the frequent serious

injury of crops, and the occasional destruction of crops, fences, and stock. A

straightened channel would increase the fall and the strength of the current,

and in the sandy formation of the beds of most of the streams would soon cut a

way deep enough to secure the larger part of the land against overflow. This

would be cheaper than making levees along a crooked course that required two

miles of work to protect one of direct length, but it would have to be carried

out by a concert of action on the part of riparian proprietors, which would be

hard to effect, and it would also divide a good many farms that are now bounded

by original lines of survey terminating at the river, which was made a navigable

stream by law but not by nature. Changing the bed would confuse the numbers of

sections, and possibly disturb some land titles. This objection is presented to

this policy in Professor Brown's Survey, but an act of the Legislature might

open a way for concerted action, and provide against the confusion of lines and

disturbance of rights




Flora. — The central region of Indiana was a favorite hunting-ground of

the Indian tribes that sold it in 1818. Its woods and waters were unusually

full of game. There were no prairies of any extent and not many swamps. The

entire surface was densely covered with trees. On the uplands, which were dry

and rolling, the sugar, white and blue ash, black walnut, white walnut or

butternut, white oak, red beech, poplar, wild cherry prevailed; on the more level

uplands were bur-oak, white elm, hickory, white beech, water ash, soft maple,

and others; on the first and second bottoms, sycamore, buckeye, black walnut,

blue ash, hackberry, and mulberry. Grapevines, bearing abundantly the small,

pulpless acid fruit called " coon" grapes, grew profusely in the bottoms,

covering the largest trees, and furnishing more than ample stores for the

preserves and pies of the pioneer women. Under all these larger growths, especially

in the bottoms, there were dense crops of weeds, among which grew equally dense

thickets of spice-brush, — the backwoods substitute for tea, — papaw, wahoo,

wild plum, hazel, sassafras, red and black haw, leatherwood, prickly ash,

red-bud, dogwood, and others. The chief weed growths, says Professor Brown,

were nettles and pea-vines matted together, but with these were Indian turnip,

— the most acrid vegetable on earth probably, — ginseng, cohosh, lobelia, and,

in later days, perfect forests of iron-weeds. There are a good many small

remains of these primeval forests scattered through the county, with here and

there patches of the undergrowth, and not a few nut-trees, walnut, hickory, and

butternut, but the hazel, the spice-wood, the sassafras, the plum and black haw

and papaw are never seen anywhere near the city, and not frequently anywhere in

the county. The Indian turnip is occasionally found, but ginseng has

disappeared as completely as the mound-builders, though in the last generation

it was an article of considerable commercial importance




Fauna. — The principal animals in these primeval woods were the common

black bear, the black and gray wolf, the buffalo, deer, raccoon, opossum, fox, gray

and red squirrels, rabbits, mink, weasel, of land quadrupeds; of the water,

otter, beaver, muskrat; of birds, the wild turkey, wild goose, wild duck, wild pigeon,

pheasant, quail, dove, and all the train of wood birds which the English

sparrow has so largely driven off, — the robin, bluebird, jaybird, woodpecker, tomtit,

sap-sucker, snowbird, thrush. For twenty years or more laws have protected the

game birds, and there is said to be a marked increase of quail in the last

decade, but there is hardly any other kind of game bird, unless it be an

occasional wild pigeon, snipe, or wild duck. Buzzards, hawks, crows, owls, blackbirds

are not frequently seen now near the city, though they were all abundant once.

Flocks of blackbirds and wild pigeons occasionally pass along, but not

numerously enough to attract the hunter. In fact, there is very little worth

hunting in the county, except rabbits, quail, and remote squirrels. For fish the

game varieties are almost wholly confined to the bass and red-eye. Water

scavengers like the " cat" and " sucker" are thick and big

in the off-flow of the city pork-houses, and in the season form no

inconsiderable portion of the flesh-food of the class that will fish for them,

but game fish must be sought for from five to ten miles from the city. In early

days, and for the first twenty-five years of the existence of the city, the

river and its larger affluents supplied ample provision of excellent fish, —

bass, pike, buffalo, redeye, salmon rarely, and the cleaner class of inferior fish,

as "red-horse," suckers, cats, eels; but the improvidence of pioneers,

who never believed that any natural supply of food could fail, and the habits

acquired from them, particularly the destructiveness of seining, has reduced

the food population of streams till it needs stringent laws, and the vigilance

of associations formed to enforce the laws, to prevent total extirpation. Even

with these supports it will take careful and prolonged efforts at restocking to

reproduce anything like the former abundance




Mineral Springs. — Although they form no conspicuous feature of the topography of

the county, and have never been used medicinally, except by the neighbors, it

may be well to note that there are a few springs of a mineral and hygienic

character in the county, where the underground currents of water rise through

crevices in the overlying bed of clay. One of these, called the Minnewa

Springs, in Lawrence township, a mile and a half northeast of the little town

of Lawrence, was talked of at one time as capable of being made a favorite

resort, and some steps were taken in that direction, but nothing came of them.

Another very like it is within a half-mile of the same town. Southwest of the

city is one on the farm of an old settler that has been famous in the neighborhood

as a " sulphur spring" for fifty years. A couple of miles nearer the

city is another on the farm of Fielding Beeler, which Professor Brown says is

the largest in the county. " It forms a wet prairie or marsh of several

acres, from which by ditching a large stream of water is made to flow." The

water of all these springs contains iron enough to be readily tasted, and to

stain the vessels that are used in it, and this peculiarity gives it the

misname of sulphur water




Swamps. — There were once considerable areas of marshy land, or land kept

wet by the overflow of adjacent streams, but many of these have been entirely drained,

and considerable portions of others larger and less convenient for drainage.

With them have measurably disappeared the malarial diseases that in the first

settlement of the city, and for a good many years after, came back as regularly

as the seasons. There is not, probably, a single acre of land in the county

that is not cultivable or capable of being made so. Between three and four

miles southwest of city lay a swampy tract, nearly a mile long by a quarter or

more wide, entirely destitute of trees, which was long known in the vicinity as

" the prairie," the only approach to a prairie in the county




Geology of the County — Marion County rests on three distinct geological members, two of

them belonging to the Devonian formation and one to the Carboniferous. Neither,

however, shows itself conspicuously on the surface. Upon these lies a deposit of

drift, or transported material, from fifty to one hundred and fifty feet thick.

This forms the surface of the country, and molds its general configuration. But

the rock foundation, in spite of the depth of the drift upon it, affects the

face of the country somewhat, most obviously along the line where the Knob sandstone

overlaps the Genesee shale. The line of strike dividing the geological members

traverses the county on a line from the south thirty degrees northwest. This

line, as it divides the Coniferous limestone from the Genesee shale or black

slate, passes between the city and the Hospital for the Insane, two miles west.

Borings in the city reach the limestone at a depth of sixty to one hundred

feet. .It is the first rock encountered in place. At the hospital forty feet of

shale was passed through before reaching the limestone. This shows the eastern

part of the county as resting on the Coniferous limestone, and the western on

the Delphi black slate or Genesee shale. Under a small area of the southwestern

corner of the county the Knob or Carboniferous sandstone will be found covering

the slate. On a sand-bar in the river, a short distance north of the Johnson

County line. Professor Brown noticed after a freshet large pieces of slate that

had been thrown out, indicating that the river had laid bare that rock at some

near point. This gives the level of the bed of the river in the lower half of

its course through the county. But a short distance west of the west line of

the county some of the small tributaries of White Lick lay bare the lower

members of the Knob sandstone. There are indications both on Pogue's Run and

Pleasant Run that the limestone lies very near their beds, but it is not likely

that stone can ever be profitably quarried in the county. Geological interest

attaches to the deep deposits of drift that cover the stratified rocks.




Drift. — The drift that covers our great Western plains, continues Dr.

Brown's Survey, is foreign in character and general in deposition. It is not a

promiscuous deposit of clay, sand, water-worn pebbles, and bowlders, like the

Eastern glacial drift. These are all found in it, but with nearly as much

regularity and order as is usually found in stratified rocks. At the base of

this formation is almost invariably found a very compact lead-colored clay,

with but few bowlders, and those invariably composed of quartzite, highly

metamorphosed or trap rocks. Occasionally may be found thin deposits of very

fine gray or yellow sand, but they are not uniform. Between the clay and the

rocks on which it rests is generally interposed a layer of coarse gravel or

small silicious bowlders, from three to six feet thick. Sometimes, but rarely,

this is wanting, and the clay lies directly upon the rock. In Marion County

this clay-bed ranges from twenty to more than a hundred feet thick, and is very

uniform in character throughout, except where the light strata or fine sand

occur. Chemically it is an alumina silicate in a very fine state of division,

and mechanically mixed with an exceedingly fine sand, which shows under the

microscope as fragments of almost transparent quartz. It is colored by a proto-sulfide

of iron. A small portion of lime and potassa and a trace of phosphoric acid can

be discovered by analysis. Above this is generally found a few feet of coarse

sand or fine gravel, and on this is twenty or thirty feet of a true glacial

drift, of the promiscuous character of the glacial drift described by Eastern

geologists. In and upon this drift are large bowlders of granite, gneiss, and

trap, which are not found in their proper place nearer than the shore of Lake

Superior, whence they have been carried, as is attested by the grooves and scratches

in the exposed rock surfaces over which they have passed. In this upper drift

are the gravel terraces, from which is obtained our best available material for

road-making. The mass of it is a yellow or orange-colored clay, with a

considerable quantity of sand, and lime enough to make the water passing through

it hard. There is an astonishing number and size of bowlders in and upon this

clay-bed. Two were measured by Dr. Brown which were nearly ten feet long by

five wide, with four feet exposed above ground, and nobody knows how much

below. In a few places bowlders are so thickly scattered as to obstruct

cultivation. In the central and northern portions of the county they are almost

invariably of granite, in the south generally of gneiss or trap




Gravel Terraces. — The gravel terraces are generally found in a succession of

mound-like elevations, ten to fifty feet above the level of the surrounding plain,

and usually rest on a compact clay. They are frequently arranged in lines

running north, a little northeast and southwest. North of these mounds is

generally found a considerable space of level and often swampy lands,

indicating the position of a mass of ice, under which a torrent has rushed with

great force, excavating the clay below, piling up the heavier gravel and sand,

and carrying the lighter clay and finer sand to be distributed over the

country. When the ice disappeared the excavation would be a little lake,

finally filled up with the lighter material borne from other terraces farther

north. These terrace formations, or " second bottoms," bordering the river

on one side or the other nearly everywhere, have almost the same character and

history as the gravel-beds of the uplands. They consist of deposits of gravel

and coarse sand, resting on the lower blue clay, into which the river has cut

its present channel. Formerly these plains, frequently three or four miles wide,

were regarded as lake-like expansions of the river which had been silted up by

its sediment, but an inspection of the material shows that the water from which

the deposit was made was no quiet lake, but a current strong enough to bear

onward all lighter material, leaving only the heavier gravel and sand behind




Lower Blue Clay. — The Official Survey concludes that the lower blue clay was

deposited before the strata of clay, sand, and gravel that rest upon it, and are

clearly traceable to glacial action, and that the conditions of its deposit

were very different from the rush and tumult of water pouring from a melting glacier,

though evidently deposited from water. The greater part of the material is very

fine, and could have come only from very quiet waters, and from very deep

waters too, as its compactness and solidity prove the existence of great

pressure necessary to the production of those qualities. Besides the

superposition of the glacial strata, the precedent deposition of the lower blue

clay is indicated by the fact that the glacial action, exhibited over the whole

surface of the country, made excavations in it by undermining currents from

dissolving glaciers which now form the small lakes so numerous in the northern

part of the State. The southern end of Lake Michigan rests on this clay, and is

excavated into it to an unknown depth. Another fact attesting the deposit of

the lower clay anterior to the grinding and crushing era of moving mountains of

ice, is the discovery at the bottom of it of the unbroken remains of coniferous

trees, probably cypress or hemlock. In digging wells in the county logs ten to

fifteen inches in diameter, well preserved, have been found. Glacial action

accompanying or following the deposit of these trees would have crushed them.

Dr. Brown suggests a theory of the deposition of this clay-bed. If the glacial

era was preceded by an upheaval that raised the region of the Arctic Circle

above the line of perpetual congelation, there would necessarily have been a

corresponding depression south of the elevation, which would be an inland sea

of fresh water. During the whole period of the progress of this upheaval north

and sinking south (in our region) torrents of water loaded with sediment would

have rushed down and filled the huge hollow. As the waters became quiet the

sediment would be slowly deposited. The color of the clay, caused by the

combination of sulphur and iron, proves that these waters were originally charged

with sulfurous gases produced by volcanic agencies. The presence of these gases

explains the absence of life in this fresh-water sea till the sulphur-tainted

sediment was entirely deposited, when the increasing cold would cover it with

an impervious crust of ice, cutting off all access of air and the possibility of

life. There are no fossil remains in the clay. With the end of the Ice Age came

a reversal of conditions, the northern regions sinking, those about here rising

and pouring their waters southward into the Gulf of Mexico in furious torrents

strengthened by the melting of great masses of ice, thus furnishing much of the

material of the Mississippi delta, and leaving marks of denudation on the hills

of Kentucky, Tennessee, and Alabama.




Economical Service of the

Clay-Bed. — This lower clay stratum when exposed to

the air for a few years undergoes chemical changes which make it the basis of a

very fertile soil. Frost breaks down its adhesiveness and makes it a mass of

crumbling, porous earth. The oxygen of the air converts the sulphur into an

acid which unites with the potash and lime accessible to it and makes

slowly-soluble salts of them, which supply valuable elements of fertility for

years of cultivation, needing only organic matter to be available at once for

use. It is an excellent absorbent owing to the fineness of its material, and

might be advantageously used in composting manures, as it would retain ammonia

as sulphate. Of greater value, at least to the city, than its fertilizing

quality is its action as a filter, securing an inexhaustible supply of pure

water in the bowlders and gravel beneath it. In a region as level as Marion

County, and as prolific of vegetation, the surface water must become charged with

organic matter, which the porous upper strata of soil, sand and clay, but

imperfectly retain, so that the water of springs and shallow wells is rarely so

pure as to be suitable for domestic use. These impurities are, of course,

increased in the vicinity of residences, barns, and stables, and still more in

cities, where there are large quantities of excrementitious matter. Surface

water more or less tainted in this way is readily absorbed by the porous soil,

and may reach the bottom of wells of twenty feet in depth. Against the

inevitable and incalculable evil of a corrupted water supply, as that of Indianapolis

would be if there were no other resource than the surface water of shallow

wells, this blue clay stratum is an ample and admirable provision. It acts as a

filter to the reservoir in the gravel and bowlder bed beneath it. The water

there is free from organic matter, though always sufficiently tainted with iron

to be easily tasted and to color vessels used in it. This iron taint is an invariable

characteristic of the water filtered through this blue clay, and gives the

popular reputation of mineral water to springs of it that rise through fissures

in the clay to the surface. The best known of these springs have been already

referred to. In the city and several places outside of it wells have been sunk

to the sub-clay water through sixty -seven to one hundred and eight feet, the

water rising to various distances from the surface from eight to forty feet. The

blue clay stratum runs from eight to sixty feet in thickness. The reservoir of

water under this clay has no outlet except through openings in the clay and in

consequence can never be exhausted by natural drainage. To a large

manufacturing center like Indianapolis the power derived from water in stream

or steam is indispensable, and that, says the Survey, " we have under

every acre of land in Marion County." 




Character of Soil. — The glacial drift furnishes the material for a soil that meets

every demand of agriculture. Says the Survey, " Being formed by the decomposition

of almost every variety of rock, it holds the elements of all in such a state

of fine division as to give it excellent absorbent properties, and enables it

to retain whatever artificial fertilizers may be added. In its natural state

the soil of the county generally has but one prominent defect, — the very fine material

of which it is made lying so nearly level is easily saturated with water, and

having no drainage below, except by slow filtration through the clay, is kept

wet longer than usual. This necessitates the escape of a great part of it by

surface evaporation, and this, especially in spring, delays the warming of the

soil and its early preparation for summer crops. The condition of saturation

has an unfavorable effect on the vegetable matter in the soil, excluding it

from free contact with the air, and arresting its rapid decomposition, often

changing it into humic acid, a chemical product injurious to crops. In the

first and second bottom lands this defect is remedied by a stratum of gravel or

coarse sand a few feet below the surface, which rapidly passes the water

downwards and relieves the saturated surface. The same effect is produced on

the clay uplands by a system of tile drainage.




Ideal Section of the County. — The following measurements of the different strata of an ideal

section of the county are given by Dr. Brown from natural sections, borings,

and excavations made in different parts of the county. Beginning with the most

recent formations, we have: 




 




Transported Material




1. Alluvium, or bottom land,

from 10 to 20 feet




2. Terrace formations, gravel

and sand, from 50 to 100 feet




3. True bowlder clay

(glacial), from 40 to 110 feet




4. Blue sedimentary clay and

sand, from 20 to 120 feet




5. Bowlders and gravel, from 5

to 15 feet




 




Rock in Place




6. Knob sandstone

(Carboniferous) 25 feet




7. Genesee slate (Devonian) 80

feet




8. Coniferous limestone

(Devonian) 50 feet




 




The coniferous limestone has been

penetrated fifty feet, but its entire thickness at this point is undetermined,

as its eastern outcrop is concealed by the heavy drift deposit. Nos. 1, 2, 6,

and 7 underlie only portions of the county; the other members are general in

their distribution




The Indian Occupation. — The State of Indiana formed the central . and largest portion of

the territory " held by the Miami Confederacy from time immemorial,"

as Little Turtle, who led the Indians in St. Clair's defeat, told Gen. Wayne.

There were but four tribes in this Confederacy, the leading one being the

Miamis, or, in early times, the Twightwees; but divisions of four others quite

as well known by history and tradition were allowed entrance and residence, —

the Shawanese, Delawares, Kickapoos, and Pottawatomies. The Delawares occupied

the region in and around Marion County, but the abundance of fish and game made

it a favorite hunting-ground of all the tribes from the valley of the White

Water, or Wah-he-ne-pay, to the valley of the White River, the Wah-me-ca-me-ca.

On this account it was obstinately held by the Confederacy, and only

surrendered by the treaty of St. Mary's, 1818. One of the principal Delaware

towns stood on the bluff of White River, at the Johnson County line, where,

says Professor Brown, was the residence of Big Fire, a leading Delaware chief

and friend of the whites. A blunder of ignorance or brutality came near making an

enemy of him in 1812, as Cresap or Greathouse did of Logan in 1774. A band of

Shawanese, an ' affiliated tribe of the Confederacy, but residing farther

south, between the East Pork of White River (the Gun-da-quah) and the Ohio, acting

doubtless on the hostile impulse imparted by the great chief of the tribe,

Tecumseh, massacred a white settlement at the Pigeon Roost, in Scott County, in

1812. The Madison Rangers in revenge penetrated to Big Fire's town, on the

southern line of the county, and destroyed it. It would seem that there should

have been little difficulty, to men as familiar with the locations and modes of

warfare of the Indians as these rangers, in ascertaining whether the war party

of the Pigeon Roost massacre came from the north or not; but whether there was

or not no discrimination was made, and it required all Governor Harrison's diplomacy

to keep Big Fire and his tribe from joining the forces against the government.

" But few remains mark the site of this ruined town," says the

professor. In Washington township, on the east side of the river, tradition

places the site of another village older, — how much it is impossible to say or

guess, further than the vague direction of conjecture by the fact that the

place is overrun by a wood of sixty years' growth. Near the river is an old

cemetery of the tribe, and near it are some unique remains of Indian residence,

both uncovered occasionally by floods. These remains are " pits or ovens

excavated in a very compact clay," as Professor Brown describes them, about

two feet and a half in diameter and the same in depth, and burned on the inner

surfaces like brick. In them have been found coals and ashes, and around them

fragments of pottery. Their condition and contents would indicate that they

were a sort of earthenware kettle, constructed by the ready process of digging

out the inside clay and burning the surface of the outside, instead of taking

the clay for each in a separate mass, and molding it and burning it and putting

back in its new shape in the hole it came from in its old one. The Indians of

this fertile region all cultivated corn and beans and pumpkins, and made sugar

of " sugar water" in the early spring, by freezing it during the

night and throwing away the ice, which contained no sugar, afterwards boiling it

down and graining it. Flint arrow-heads, stone hatchets, chisels, and other

implements of the " Stone Age" are found occasionally in the soil and

gravel, especially in the southern part of the county, near Glenn's Valley, and

these are said by Professor Brown's Report to be made in many cases of talcose

slate, a rook found no nearer this region than the Cumberland Mountains or the

vicinity of Lake Superior. The curious forms of some of them make it impossible

to determine their use. The Official Survey reports no mounds or earthworks of the

mound-builders or other prehistoric race in the county except these relics of

the " Stone Age." There may be none now, but forty-five years ago

there were two considerable mounds in the city near the present line of Morris

Street, one near the intersection of the now nearly effaced canal and Morris Street,

and the other a little farther east. The excavation of the canal opened one of

them, and some complete skeletons and scattered bones and fragments of

earthenware were found and taken possession of by Dr. John Richmond, then

pastor of the only Baptist Church, as well as a practicing physician. The other

was gradually plowed down, probably after being opened at the same time the

first was, but no record or definite memory settles the question




For a number of years the agency

of the Indians of Central Indiana was held at Conner's Station, some sixteen

miles north of the city and about four beyond the present county line. William

Conner, the first settler of the White River Valley, established himself there

about 1806, after spending most of his youth and early manhood among the

Indians, a number of whose dialects he spoke fluently, and whose names and

customs and modes of life he understood as well as if he had been one of the

race. He was well acquainted with all the chiefs of the Shawanese, Miamis,

Delawares, and other tribes, and was frequently employed as an interpreter and

guide by Gen. Harrison. He was the guide of the army in the campaign that ended

with the battle of Tippecanoe, and in that made memorable by the "massacre

of the Raisin River." He accompanied Gen. Harrison in the march into

Canada that was triumphantly concluded by the battle of the Thames and the

death of Tecumseh, the greatest of all the Western Indian leaders, except

possibly Pontiac.




This particularity of reference

to him is not impertinent, for his settlement was closely connected with that

of the county, and he was long in active business as a merchant in the city. It

may, therefore, be apt as well as not uninteresting, to present the reader a

fact almost wholly unknown in connection with the death of Tecumseh.

Vice-President Col. Richard M. Johnson, of Kentucky, was long credited with the

honor, such as it was, of killing the Shawanese hero, but it was later claimed

for one or two others, and the famous question " Who struck Billy

Patterson?" was hardly a burlesque on the idle babble, oral and printed,

that worried the world as to who killed Tecumseh. Mr. Conner could have settled

the question if he had been disposed to thrust himself in the face of the

public. But he was not, and the information comes now from Robert B. Duncan, a

leading lawyer of the city, who was clerk of the county for over twenty years,

and when a lad lived with Mr. Conner as early as 1820. To him Mr. Conner told

what he knew of the death of Tecumseh. He, as usual, was Gen. Harrison's guide

and interpreter. After the battle of the Thames was over the body of a chief, evidently

of great distinction from his dress and decorations, was found, and Mr. Conner was

sent for to identify it. He said it was Tecumseh's, and he knew the chief well.

The situation, as he described it to Mr. Duncan, showed that the chief had been

killed with a very small rifle-ball, which fitted a small rifle in the hands of

a dead youth, who apparently had been an aid or orderly of a major who lay dead

near him, killed by a large ball, apparently from Tecumseh 's gun. The solution

of the case was, probably, that Tecumseh had killed the officer, the boy had

killed the chief, and one of the chief's braves had killed the boy.




The payments made to the Indians

of this county and the adjacent territory by Mr. Conner at his agency were made

in the spring, always in silver and always with strict honesty, but not always

with adequate security, or any at all, against the payments getting back to the

agent's hands in four prices for buttons and beads and calico, and more for

whiskey. The process of payment was peculiar and curious. The Indians sat in a

circle, each family in a .separate group. The money came in due proportions of amount

and denomination to pay the man in dollars, the wife in half-dollars, and the

children in quarters, each getting the same number. Each recipient was given in

advance a number of little sticks equal to the number of coins he was to get,

and as he received a coin he was to give back a stick, and when his sticks were

all gone he knew he had got all his money.




By the treaty of cession of 1818

the Indians reserved the occupancy of the ceded territory, or " New Purchase,"

till 1821; but a few lingered about the streams, trapping and fishing, till the

spring of 1824, when a company of freebooting whites, remnants of the old days

of incessant Indian warfare, consisting of a leader named Harper, Hudson,

Sawyer and son, and Bridge and son, killed two families of Shawanese,

consisting of nine persons, — two men, three women, two boys, and two girls, —

to rob them of their winter's collection of skins. The massacre was on Fall

Creek, where the Indians had been trapping through the winter, a few miles

above the present county line. It alarmed the early settlers of the county

greatly, for such murders had made local Indian wars, and brought bloody

reprisals often, just as they do to-day. All but Harper were caught, the older

murderers hung, young Sawyer convicted of manslaughter, and young Bridge of

murder, but pardoned by Governor Ray on the scaffold under the rope that had

killed his father. These are said to have been the first men executed in the

United States by due process of law for killing Indians. The pacification of

the irritated tribes was complete, and this is about the last ever seen or

known of Indians in or about Marion County, except the passage of the migrating

tribes through the town in 1832. For many years there was visible a trace of

Indian occupancy in a deep " cut" made in the bluff bank of the old

" Graveyard Pond," near where Merrill Street abuts upon the Vincennes

Railroad. It was believed to have been made by a military expedition from Kentucky,

on its way to the Wabash or the Wea settlements, for the convenience of getting

baggage or ammunition-wagons up the precipitous bluff, but nobody appears to

have been sure of either its purpose or its constructors.




Though not particularly relevant

to the matter of this history, it will not be uninteresting to its readers to

know, as very few do know, that the celebrated speech of Logan, the Cayuga

(sometimes called the Mingo) chief, which has been admired in all lands for its

manly and pathetic eloquence, beginning, " I appeal to any white man to

say if he ever entered Logan's cabin and he gave him not meat, etc.," was made

to John Gibson, the Secretary of State of Indiana Territory with Governor

Harrison, and the second Governor. In his deposition on the subject, quoted in

Dillon's " History of Indiana," he says that when Lord Dunmore, of

Virginia, was approaching the Shawanese towns on the Scioto in 1774, the chief

sent out a message, requesting someone to be sent to them who understood their

language. He went, and on his arrival Logan sought him out, where he was "

talking with Cornstalk and other chiefs of the Shawanese, and asked him to walk

out with him. They went into a copse of wood, where they sat down, and Logan,

after shedding abundance of tears, delivered to him the speech nearly as

related by Mr. Jefferson in his ' Notes on Virginia.' " It may be

remarked, in conclusion of this episode, that Logan, in consequence of the

cruelty practiced upon him, joined Cornstalk and Red Hawk in leading the

warriors in the battle at the mouth of the Big Kanawha, in September, 1774,

which was a bloodier battle to the whites, though a less decisive victory, than

the much more celebrated battle of Tippecanoe.


















 




 




CHAPTER II.




 




Special Features of the City

of Indianapolis — Area and Present Condition — General View and Historical

Outline.




 




Special Features of the City. — The general contour of the surface of the city site and vicinity

in Centre township is in no way different from that of the other parts of the

county. It is level or gently undulating, except where the bluff's bordering the

" bottoms" of streams make more abrupt elevations, and none of these

are considerable. Following the eastern border of the valley of Pogue's Run, which

divides the city from northeast to southwest, is a ridge, or range of swells

rather than hills, from the extreme southwest corner to near the northeast corner,

where it leaves the present city limits, and these are the only " high

grounds" in the city. In improving the streets these little elevations

have been cut down and the hollows filled, till in hardly any street can be

discerned any change from a level, except a slight slope or depression. For the

past thirty years or so, before any considerable improvements had been made on

the natural condition of the site, several bayous, or "ravines," as

they were generally called, traversed it through a greater or less extent, two being

especially noticeable for volume and occasional mischief. They drained into the

river the overflow of Fall Creek into a large tract of swampy ground northeast

of the city, from which, at a very early period, a ditch was made by the State

into Fall Creek at a point a mile or two farther down. The smaller or shorter

of these ran through the eastern side, in a slightly southwesterly direction,

crossing Washington Street at New Jersey, where the former, a part of the

National road, crossed on a brick culvert, and terminating at Pogue's Creek.

The other passed nearer the center of the city, turning west a little above the

State-House Square, and passing along the line of Missouri Street, afterwards

the line of the Central Canal, from near Market to Maryland, and thence curving

southward and again westward and northward, entered the river at the site of the

water-works, where some indications of its existence can still be seen, and

about the only place where there is a relic of this once prominent and very

troublesome feature of the city's topography. In several low places, mainly

north and east of the center, there were considerable ponds, the drainage of

heavy rainfalls, and in the south was one or two, but these have all been

improved out of existence many a year. The only one of these that was perennial

and distinguished by a name was the Graveyard Pond, near the old cemetery,

formed by the retention of overflows of the river in a bayou following the

bluff of the river bottom. The whole site of the city, both the original mile

square and all the outlying " donations" and all the "

additions," were at first densely covered with woods and weeds and

underbrush, of which there remain only one or two trees in Pogue's Creek Valley

in the east, and a few sycamores and elms near the creek mouth at the southwest

corner. Fall Creek and Pleasant Run may be regarded as the northern and

southern limits of the city now.




Divisions. — Pogue's Creek divides the city, leaving one-third or more on the

southeast side, the remainder on the northwest side. The latter contains the

bulk of the business and population. A small tract west of the river was added

to the site selected on the east to compensate for a part of one of the four

sections cut off by a bend of the river. This, called Indianola, forms part of

one of the city wards. A still smaller area south of this, on the west side,

has been added to the city, but the greater part of the tract west of the river

and south of Oliver Avenue has been organized into an independent town

government by the name of West Indianapolis. Northwest is another suburb, but

not attached to the city, called Haughsville. Farther to the north is North Indianapolis,

also independent, while northeast is Brightwood, unattached; and east, nearly

five miles, is the handsome little town of Irvington, mainly occupied by

residents whose business is in the city, and by the faculty and students of

Butler University. Southeast is the little suburb of Stratford. A number of

city additions have separate names, as Oak Hill, Brookside, Woodlawn, Woodruff

Place, but none, except the last, is in any way distinguishable from the city

adjacent to it.




The Creek. — More pertinently here than elsewhere may be noticed the

connection of the two streams that enter the city, Pogue's Creek and the river,

with its history. The former was named for the traditional but disputed first

settler on the city site, George Pogue. It rises about a mile east of the northeast

corner of Centre township, flows southwesterly through almost the whole diagonal

length of the city, and enters the river at the angle formed by the southern

city boundary and the river. Until street improvements turned a large part of

the town drainage into it the water was clear, well stocked with the same sort

of fish as other streams, and a favorite swimming resort for school-boys. The

bottom was heavily wooded, subject to frequent overflows, and often swampy.

Gradually, as the town grew, and manufactures and general business followed

railroad enterprises, the vicinity of the creek became the site of foundries,

machine-shops, mills, and other industrial establishments, and a little later

of the gasworks, and these, with the flow of street gutters, turned the clear

little woods stream into an open sewer. Worse still, the rapid inflow of street

drainage, with other less artificial influences, made it subject to violent and

sudden overflows, which in the last twenty years have done so much mischief

that suits have been repeatedly brought against the city for indemnity. Very

recently a judgment for ten thousand dollars was obtained on one of these suits

by a large wholesale house. The current has been obstructed and diverted by the

piers and abutments of street and railway bridges, by culverts and the arches

of the foundations of large buildings, and in some places " washes'"

have cut away the banks so as to seriously impair the value of adjacent lots,

and even to imperil houses, and the result of all these co-operating evils has

been the recent appointment of a committee of the City Council and Board of

Aldermen, in conjunction with several prominent private citizens, to devise a

complete and uniform system of protection from overflows, washes, and all forms

of damage. As it follows the line of lowest level in the city, draining the

site from both sides, it has sometimes been proposed to deepen its bed, wall

and arch it in, and make a main sewer of it. A very large portion of it on both

banks has been wailed in, and many hundreds of feet arched in by street

culverts and other works, and it is not improbable that it will sooner or later

be covered throughout, and made to carry off the whole natural flow as well as the

street drainage not diverted to other sewers. But very little of it is left in

its old bed, its crooks having been straightened into angles and right lines.

Occasionally it runs dry in long droughts




The Canal. — Although no natural feature of the city's topography, and a

considerable portion of it is effaced, the canal is still conspicuous enough

both in its topographical and economical relations to require notice. The

section from the feeder-dam in the river at Broad Ripple, some eight or nine

miles north, to the city is all that was ever completed of the " Central

Canal," which was one of the system of public improvements begun by the

State in 1836. In places it was almost completed for twenty-five or thirty miles

south of the city, and nearly as far north, but nothing was ever done with it

but to leave it to be overgrown with weeds and underbrush, except a short stretch

three miles south, where its bed was very level, and the country people used it

for a racecourse. Until within ten years or so the completed section from Broad

Ripple passed clear through the city, mainly along the line of Missouri Street

to Merrill Street, and in early times was used for fishing, swimming, skating,

ice-packing, occasional baptisms by churches, and semi-occasional cargoes of

wood in flat-boats. The State sold it a few years after its completion to the

" Central Canal Hydraulic and Water-Works Company," and that sold to

others till it came into the hands of the company which established the

water-works, and used it as a motive-power, some dozen years ago. Then the

portion south of Market Street was deepened, and a sewer built in it, connecting

with the Kentucky Avenue trunk sewer, and it was filled up, graded, and

partially improved, and is now a street. Above Market Street it continues in

its former condition, used for boating and ice-packing by permission of the proprietary

company, and for bathing without it. Below the line of Merrill Street to the

city limits the canal passed through private property, which has reverted to

the original owners or their assigns, who have left hardly a visible trace of

it. When first completed, an enlargement or basin was made on the site of the

present steel-rail mill, and a culvert was made over the creek that

occasionally broke and made trouble. The culvert is almost the only relic of

the lower end of the city section. On each side of Washington Street, on the

east bank of the canal, a square basin opening into it was made, each about two

hundred feet square. These have long disappeared, and with them a ditch along

the south side of Washington Street, extending east to within a short distance

of Mississippi, then turning directly south to Maryland Street, and there

turning west entered the canal at the Maryland Street bridge. The bridges were

all made with " tow-paths" beneath them on the west side. These

disappeared with the basins and ditches. A couple of wooden locks were built at

the south line of the " donation," but never finished. They became a

favorite fishing-place, as did the place where the water, while it lasted,

emptied into Pleasant Run, near the river. Water never passed farther south. A

stone lock was built at Market Street, and used a few times. From this lock an

arm of the canal ran west two blocks or so, a few feet north of Market Street,

where it entered a basin some four or five hundred feet long, extending north

into the " Military Ground." From the north end of this basin a

" tumble" let the water down a dozen feet into a race-way that turned

south, crossed Washington Street, and entered a sort of natural basin, formerly

one of the old " ravines," whence the water fell by another tumble

into the river at the site of the present water-works. The water was let into

the canal at the feeder-dam in the spring or early summer of 1839, and the

State immediately leased water-power to one woolen and one oil-mill, and to two

each of grist-, saw-, cotton-, and paper-mills. These were located at the

Market Street lock, on the river bank, where the race-way fell into the river,

and at the south end of the basin in the Military Ground. Some years later a

gristmill south of the donation obtained its power from the canal. The

water-works company now owning it have recently replaced the decayed aqueduct

over Fall Creek with one of the most substantial character, and have at one

time or another greatly improved the feeder-dam. Its present use is mainly to supply

power to the pumping-engines of the waterworks.




The River (the

Wa-me-ca-me-ca). — From the upper to the lower

bridge of the Belt Railroad the river may be considered a part of the city

site, though but a small portion bounds the site on the west, and a smaller

portion divides it from the Indianola suburb. This section is pretty nearly

three miles long in a straight line, and nearly four following the banks.

Originally it was a stream of considerable volume, averaging probably four

hundred feet in width, and, except upon a few shoal spots, too deep to be

fordable. There was a ford a little way below the " Old Graveyard,"

near the present site of the Vincennes Railroad bridge, and in use till some dozen

or fifteen years ago, when an iron bridge was built a few hundred feet above

it. Another ford on the Lafayette wagon-road was a good deal used later, and

known as " Crowder's" and " Garner's Ford." Another iron

bridge has superseded it. In the town communication was kept up with the west side

by a ferry a little below the National road bridge. Directly west of the "

Old Graveyard," and three or four hundred feet above the site of the

present iron bridge, was a low sandy island, containing a couple or three

acres, and covered with large sycamores and elms, called " Governor's

Island." At the head of it, where a narrow " chute" separated it

from the high and heavily-wooded ground of the cemetery, was a huge drift that

was for many years a favorite fishing-place of the towns-people. A little above

this, on the west side, a considerable " bayou" ran out, circling

irregularly around an extensive tract, a perfect wilderness of woods and weeds,

spice-bush and papaw, and re-entered the river a half-mile or so lower. A

wing-dam at the upper mouth converted it into a race-way for a grist-mill

erected on the south bank, near the present line of the Belt Railroad, in the

year 1823. This was one of the first mills built in the county. A little way

east of it, nearer the river, the first distillery in the county was

established near the same time, turning out for several years a small quantity

of " forty-rod" whiskey that was known as " Bayou Blue."

Some remains of the mill were discernible a dozen years ago, but all are gone

now, and the bayou itself is measurably effaced by plowing and naturally drying

out. " Governor's Island" has entirely disappeared too. The river,

during the freshets that have almost annually occurred ever since the first

settlement was made, has cut away the eastern bank along the " Old

Graveyard" line until its entire volume is now east of the site of the

island, and that once conspicuous feature is merged in the broad low sand-bar that

fills the old bed. The channel has shifted at this point, as may be seen by the

west bank, four hundred feet or more. A like change, and even greater, has

taken place below, where the current has cut the west bank, and filled in on

the east side a wide swampy tract of several acres below and along the

Graveyard Pond site, and at the foot of what used to be called the High Banks.

Within a few years freshets have cut through a sharp elbow on the west side at

this same place, and instead of whittling away the point piecemeal as before,

the future action of the water seems likely to take the main volume bodily some

hundreds of feet inland. The same agencies have cut a number of small channels

through the " bottom" a little lower, and threaten to make a tolerably

straight course from near the old ford down to a point a little below the lower

mouth of the old bayou. These are the most notable changes in the river-bed in

or near the city.




There has come, with the clearing

of the country, the drainage of swamps, and disappearance of little springs and

rivulets, the same change that has come upon all the streams of the country and

of the world under the same conditions. The volume of water is smaller, low-water

mark is lower, the freshets more sudden and evanescent. It happens frequently

now that in protracted droughts the volume of water is reduced to that of a

very moderate creek, not exceeding fifty or sixty feet in width in very shoal places,

and the tributary streams. Eagle and Pleasant Run, go dry altogether near their

mouths. Pall Creek, however, is not known to have ever been so greatly reduced.

Before settlement and cultivation had changed the face of the country so

greatly the annual freshets, — sometimes semi-annual, — usually in the latter

part of winter or spring, were used to carry some of the country's products to

market down on the lower Ohio and Mississippi. This was done in flat-boats,

measuring fifty or sixty feet long by twelve to fifteen wide, covered in with a

sort of house, the roof of which was the deck, where long, heavy side-oars and

still longer and heavier steering oars were managed. The current, however, was

the motive-power. In this floating house was stored, according to the business

or fancy of the shipper, baled hay, corn, wheat, or oats, whiskey, pork,

poultry, these chiefly. They were run out at the height of a freshet, so as to

pass over a few dams that stood in the way, and were the source of the greatest

peril to these self-insured shippers. This sort of commerce was maintained at

intervals for probably twenty years, but most largely from about 1835 till the Madison

Railroad offered a better way out, in the fall of 1847. During the first few

years of the city's existence occasional cargoes of corn and game were brought

down the river by the Indians, and up the river in keel-boats by poling and

" cordelling," or hauling along with ropes, in canal-boat fashion.

Not much of either was ever done, however, the new settlement depending mainly

on land transportation from the White Water and on its own products.




The prominent event in the

history of the city's connection with the river is the attempt to make it or prove

it what Congress had declared it to be, a navigable stream. A full account will

be given in another place, but it may be noted here that a survey was made in

1825 which maintained the practicability of navigation three months in the year

for a distance of four hundred and fifteen miles at an annual expense of

fifteen hundred dollars. A reward of two hundred dollars was offered to the

first steamer's captain who should bring his boat to the town, and in 1830 one came

as far as Spencer, Owen Co., and another came up about the same distance or a

little nearer, but in the spring of 1831 the " Robert Hanna," bought

for the purpose, it was said, of carrying stone from the Bluffs of the river

for the piers and abutments of the National road bridge, came clear up to the

town, raising a great excitement and high anticipations of river commerce. She

remained a couple of days, ran upon a bar going back, and stuck a month or two,

and finally got into safe water some time during the fall. This was the last of

the navigation of White River, except by the flat-boats referred to and a

little pleasure steamer in 1865, that made a few trips during the year and was

wrecked the next summer. Within the present year a little picnic steamer has

been built at Broad Ripple, but it can hardly be deemed an exception to the

universal failure of White River navigation.




There have been a few freshets in

the river so high and disastrous that they deserve special notice. The first

was in 1828, following an unusually wet spring. During that rise an old hunter

paddled his canoe through the fork of a large tree on Governor's Island, a

height of overflow that has probably never been equaled since. The "

bottom" lands for many miles were seriously damaged, fences washed away,

stock drowned, crops in store injured, though, as suggested by Mr. Ignatius

Brown, less damage was done than by smaller floods following when the country

was better settled. The Legislature made some relief provision for the

sufferers by remitting taxes. The next great flood was early in January, 1847.

The water then for a time threatened the National road bridge. It broke through

the little suburb of Indianola, or " Stringtown" as it was then

called, from its being strung out along the National road, and cut two deep

gullies through the solidly-graded and heavily-macadamized pike, churning out

on the south side in the soft, loose soil of the river bottom huge holes nearly

a hundred feet in diameter and twenty or more deep. Several houses were washed

away, and one was left on the slope of one of the big holes, where it remained

tilted over and apparently ready to fall for several months. The third big

flood was in 1858. In 1875 came two nearly equal to that of 1847, the first in

May, the next in August, both reaching about the same height. But for the

levees then built along the west bank for a mile and more the whole of the

country west of the river to the bluff of the " bottom" would have

been drowned. In the early part of February of this year (1883) the highest

flood ever known, except possibly that of 1847 and that of 1828, occurred,

filled a large number of houses in Indianola, driving out the occupants and

damaging walls and furniture, and sweeping clear over the National road for the

first time since 1847. It was more than a foot higher than either flood of 1875.

Levees now protect the west side — the only one endangered by floods to any

extent within the limits of costly improvements — for nearly three miles south of

the Vandalia Railroad to a point opposite the mouth of Pleasant Run. These will

be extended in time parallel with the levees on the east side below Pleasant Run.

These are the chief levees on the river. Some small ones have been made along

the south bank of Fall Creek at the northern limit of the city site




Until 1852 the only bridge over

White River in or near the town was that built by the national government for

the great national highway, the " Cumberland road." This was finished

in 1833, and is still in constant use, considerably dilapidated through

culpable neglect, but still solid in its arches and serviceable. In 1852 the

Vandalia Railroad Company put up a bridge for their line a quarter of a mile

south of the old one. Since then there have been built for railroad or ordinary

service no less than nine bridges, all of iron or mixed iron and timber. They

are, beginning at the north, the Lafayette or Crawfordsville road wagon-bridge,

the Upper Belt road bridge, the Michigan Street and Washington Street wagon-bridges,

the old National road bridge, the St. Louis Railroad bridge, the Vandalia

Railroad bridge, the Old Cemetery wagon-bridge, the Vincennes Railroad bridge,

the Morris Street wagon-bridge, the Lower Belt road bridge, — eleven in all.

The bridges on the smaller streams and the remainder of the canal are too

numerous to be worth special notice.




Turnpikes. — All the wagon-roads out of the city are now graveled, and little

inferior to macadamized roads. For a few years, some thirty years or so ago, a

sort of mania for plank-roads ran over the State, and the western division of

the National road was planked. It had then been given to the State by the general

government (as had all the remainder of the road to the States through which it

passed), and by the State had been assigned to a plank-road company, which made

this improvement. It was a failure after the first few months. The planks

warped, the ends turned up, and the covering soon became a nuisance, and was

abandoned for coarse gravel, which packs solidly and makes a fairly smooth,

durable, and dry road. Many of the county and neighborhood roads have been

improved in the same way. Most of these improved roads are held by companies

and are maintained by tolls, which in the case of the city roads prove to be a

handsome return upon the investment. Some of them have been sold to the county

and made free, but several are still held by the companies. The principal roads

leading out of the city are the east and west divisions of the National road;

northeast, the Pendleton road; southeast, the south division of the Michigan

road and the Old Shelbyville road; south, the Madison road, the "Three

Notch" road, the Bluff road; southwest, the Mooresville road; northwest, the

Crawfordsville and Lafayette road and the north division of the Michigan road;

north, the Westfield and the Old Noblesville road.




Area and Present Condition. — The original city plat was a square mile, laid off in the center

of four square miles donated by Congress in 1816 for a site for the State

capital. The half-mile border around this square was made "

out-lots," and used as farm lands for years, but after 1847 was rapidly

absorbed into the city, until at the commencement of the civil war the entire

" donation" was included in the city, and was more or less compactly

built over. The town government was extended over the whole four sections in

1838, but it was ten years later, following the completion of the first

railway, before any considerable occupancy of this tract was attempted, and

then it was mainly in the vicinity of the new railway depot. Many additions of

greater or less extent have been made, more than doubling the area of the

original four sections of the " donation." It is estimated now (1883)

that an area of about eleven square miles (or seven thousand acres) is included

in the limits of the city. It occupies a little more than one-fourth of the area

of Centre township, which is a little larger than a Congressional township of

six miles square




Population. — The first estimate of population rests upon an enumeration made

by visitors of the Union Sunday-school in the spring of 1824, when 100 families

were counted upon the " donation," making a probable population of

500 or more, represented by 100 voters, or 120 possibly, with 50 voters

representing nobody but themselves, or a total population of near 600. In 1827

a careful census was taken, and the population found to count up 1066. In 1830

it was about 1500; in 1840, 4000; in 1850, 8034; in 1860, 18,611; in 1870,

48,244; in 1880, 75,056. It is now estimated at about 95,000, of which

one-sixth is foreign-born, mainly Irish and Germans, the former counting a

little more than half of the latter, or, with all other foreign-born population,

making a little more than half of all of that class. In 1880 the whole of

German birth was 6070; of Irish birth, 3660; and of all other foreign

nationalities, 2880. The proportions are now about 8000, 4000, and 3000. The

basis of the estimate of population that gives the closest as well as the most

trustworthy result is that of the enumeration of school children under the law.

This is made every year to determine the ratio of distribution of the State's

school fund, and is probably as accurate as the national census. It shows the

proportion of children of " school age" (from six to twenty-one) in

1880 to have been to the whole population as one to two and four-fifths. The

school enumeration for 1883 makes the total 33,079, which gives at the

ascertained ratio a population a little less than 93,000. The estimate of the

secretary of the Board of Trade is 100,000, but no safe basis of calculation

will give that result. A fair estimate on the 1st of January, 1884, makes the

population 95,000.




Government. — The city government is composed of a mayor, Board of Aldermen,

Common Council, clerk, treasurer, and assessor, elected by popular vote;

marshal, chief of the fire department, attorney, elected by the Council; and a

Board of Police Commissioners, appointed by the State officers and paid by the

city, who have entire control of the police force, also paid by the city. The

officers elected by the people serve two years, the others one. The police

commissioners go out and are replaced in successive years, one in one, one in

two, and one in three.




Police. — The police force consists of a chief, two captains, and

sixty-five men. Besides the regular force there are three or four specially in

charge of the Union Depot, authorized by the city but paid by the Union Railway

Company. The merchants' police, a small force of men, is appointed by the city,

but paid by the citizens whose property is specially in their care.




The Fire Department consists of a chief and his assistants, and a working force, held

in this service exclusively, of seventy-seven men, including the officers

named. It has six steam-engines, four hose-reels, two hook-and-ladder wagons,

uses six hundred and twenty-two hydrants, one hundred and forty-nine cisterns,

ranging in capacity from one thousand to two thousand five hundred barrels, and

one hundred and thirty electric signal-boxes or alarm stations.




Streets. — There are four hundred and fifty streets, and larger alleys used

as streets, all more or less improved by grading and graveling or bouldering. A

very few are paved with wooden blocks, and one of these has within a year been

torn up and replaced by bowlders. A large number of streets are bouldered, but

much the larger portion are graded and covered heavily with coarse gravel, which

is found to make a good durable street, given to grind into dust and mud, but

always available and cheap. The aggregate length of streets is not accurately

known, but as a few are four miles long or more, and a great many from one to

two miles, the aggregate length is conjectured to be probably between seven

hundred and eight hundred miles. On them is a total length of water-main of

fifty-one miles, with twenty-five large iron drinking-fountains " for man

and beast." With these are ninety miles of gas-mains and two thousand four

hundred and seventy-nine lamps. There are thirteen lines of street railways,

owning five hundred mules and employing one hundred drivers. All belong to one company.




Parks. — A very pleasing feature of the city is its parks, of which there

are four: 1st, Circle Park, intended to have been put in the center of the

" donation," as the site of the Governor's official residence, but

never used for that purpose, and, on account of the propinquity of Pogue's Run

bottom, put a little aside from the central point, which is a half-square south

of the southeast corner of Washington and Illinois Streets; 2nd, Military Park,

the remains of a military reservation; 3rd, University Park, held by the city

on consent of the Legislature, but given originally to help endow a State

University at the capital; 4th, Garfield Park, originally Southern Park, a

large tract at the extreme south of the city, purchased some years ago to give

the population of that part of the city a place of recreation, but so far

inadequately improved.




Taxes. — The levy for general purposes last year was 90 cents on $100,

for school purposes 22 cents, making a total of $1.12, the legal limit of

taxation for city purposes. This rate is levied on a total valuation of

$52,633,510, divided into "realty," $22,863,525; "

improvements," $16,363,200; " personal," $13,406,755. There are

some slight discrepancies in these statements, as the assessors' returns had

not been corrected when this report was given. The total valuation of property

for taxation in 1850 was $2,326,185; in 1860, $10,700,000; in 1866, the first

valuation after the close of the war, $24,835,750; in 1870, $24,656,460. A

decline in real estate came in 1868, the valuation dropping from $25,500,000 in

1867 to $24,000,000 in 1868, and to $22,000,000 in 1869, recovering partially

in 1870, and rising to $30,000,000 in 1871. The rise continued till 1874, then

the financial crash of 1873 began to operate, and a second decline began, which

is now about overcome. The city revenue for the last year was $591,312.




Business. — The secretary of the Board of Trade reports for the year ending

with the end of 1882 that there were 772 manufacturing establishments in the

city, with $12,270,000 of capital, employing an average of 12,000 hands at an

average rate of $2.20 a day, using $18,730,000 of material, and producing $30,100,000

of merchantable goods. The wholesale trade in sixteen lines of business

amounted to $25,440,000. The total clearances of the clearing-house was

$101,577,523. There are 12 banks in the city, 6 national and 6 private, with a

total capital of $2,880,000. The average of monthly deposits was $11,435,000.

Total receipts of grain for 1882, 21,242,897 bushels; of coal, about 400,000

tons, or 202,711 for the last six months. Of live-stock, 5,319,611 hogs,

640,363 cattle, 849,936 sheep, 50,795 horses, of which there was disposed of in

the city 3,020,913 hogs, 106,178 cattle, 70,543 sheep, 2533 horses. Of lumber,

125,000 M's, or 125,000,000 feet. The Board of Trade has 1000 members.




Railroads. — Counting the two divisions of the Jeffersonville Railroad

separately, as they were built and operated at first, there are fourteen

railroads completed and in operation centering in Indianapolis, running

altogether 114 passenger trains both ways daily, and handling here an average

of 2500 freight cars daily, each car having a capacity of twelve tons at least,

and making a total daily tonnage of 30,000 tons, equal to the trade of a

seaport receiving and sending out thirty vessels daily of 1000 tons each. Besides

the fourteen lines of railroad centering in the city, there is the Union

Railway Company with a length of track enough to connect them all at the Union

Passenger Depot, and now by lease in control of the Belt Railway, which very

nearly encircles the city, and connects all the roads for freight purposes by a

line that enables transfers of cars and trains to be made outside of the city,

avoiding the obstruction of many streets. Two new roads are in progress. Every

county in the State but three can be reached by rail, and nearly every

county-seat can be visited and a return made the same day.




Newspapers and Periodicals. — There are six daily newspapers in the city, all morning issues

except one. There is one semi-weekly, twenty-five weeklies (including the

weekly editions of dailies), one serai-monthly, and seventeen monthlies.




Amusements. — There are four theatres, one hundred and sixty public halls,

four military companies, four musical societies, and three brass bands; ten libraries,

including the State and City and County, and the Stat« Geological Museum,

containing over 100,000 specimens, and valued at over $100,000.




Business Associations. — Insurance fifteen; for manufactures and other purposes

incorporated, sixty-one, with a capital of $8,300,000; building and loan

societies nineteen, with an aggregate capital of $1,755,000; miscellaneous

associations, fifty-five; hotels, forty. 




Professions. — Lawyers, two hundred; physicians, two hundred and thirty-two.

(School-teachers and preachers, see Schools and Churches.) Secret Societies. —

The secret societies number 23, with 143 lodges or separate organizations. The

Masons have 21 lodges of whites and 6 of colored members; the Odd Fellows have

23 in all; the Knights of Pythias have 13; the Hibernians have 3. Besides these

the Red Men, and Elks, and Druids, and several other orders have each one or

more lodges.




Churches. — Baptist, 13; Catholic, 7; Christian, 6; Congregational, 2;

Episcopal, 5; Reformed Episcopal, 1; Evangelical Alliance, 1; United Brethren, 1;

Friends, 1; German Reformed, 3; Hebrews, 2; Lutheran, 6; Methodist, 23;

Protestant Methodist, 1; Presbyterian, 14; Swedenborgian, 1; United Presbyterian,

1. In all there are 88 churches in the city. Two denominations that at one time

were quite prominent, the Universalist and Unitarian, have disappeared

altogether in the last few years as distinct sects.




Health and Sanitary Conditions. — The station at Indianapolis of the United States Signal Service reports

for the last year an annual mean of temperature of 53.8; an annual mean of

humidity of 71.1; 107 clear days, 141 fair days, and 117 cloudy days; a mean

fall of rain and snow of 53.68 inches; the highest temperature 94°, the lowest

10° below zero. Drainage is effected by an incomplete but steadily advancing

system of sewage, with two trunk lines at present on Washington and South

Streets, and a number of small tributary sewers. The health of the city is

surpassed by no city and not many rural regions in the world. The last report

of the Board of Health covers seven months from January to July, inclusive,

1883, and shows, with the months of the preceding year back to July, an average

of less than 140 a month. This gives a death-rate of 18 2/3 in 1000;

that of London is 21 1/2 per 1000, of Paris 26 ½ , of Vienna 29, of

New York 29 2/3 . Very few rural communities in Europe or this

country show a deathrate lower than 19 in 1000.




Schools. — The free school system went into operation in 1853, when the

accumulation of public funds had allowed the previous purchase of grounds and the

erection of houses sufficient for the town's needs, a popular vote six years

before having authorized a special city tax for school purposes. The average

attendance at the outset in April, 1853, was 340. In three years it was 1400.

It is now (1883) 9938, while 13,685 children are enrolled on the school

records, and the city contains a juvenile population of school age (from six to

twenty-one) of 33,079. The enrollment is considerably less than half of the

population, while the attendance is about one-third. This is a reduction of

three per cent, in two years. There are now belonging to the public school

system 29 brick houses and 2 frame. Of these 2 are one story, 25 are two

stories, 3 of three stories; 8 have four rooms or less, 11 have eight rooms, 12

have nine rooms. In all there are 245 rooms, with a seating capacity of 12,746,

nearly equal to the entire enrollment. Value of grounds and buildings,

$938,419.30. There are 19 male teachers, 234 female teachers; 21 are colored,

232 white. Salaries in the High School, maximum $2000, minimum $700, average

$1037; 19 in Primary schools, maximum $1100, minimum $650, average $900.92;

grade teachers, maximum $650, minimum $300, average $500.




Private schools are nearly as

numerous as public schools, but, of course, less largely attended. There are twenty-six

of these, some of them of a denominational character, some wholly secular, but

most of a higher grade than the primaries of the public system. A few will rank

with the preparatory schools of the best colleges. Besides there are five

kindergartens. Of the collegiate class of educational institutions, there are

four medical schools authorized to give diplomas and degrees, one law school of

the same grade, and, more considerable than these, Butler University, now at

Irvington, formerly the Northwestern Christian University, and located in the

northeastern part of the city.




Under the same management as the

public schools is the Public Library, supported by a tax of two cents on one

hundred dollars, and containing about forty thousand volumes.




General View and Historical

Outline. — A summary of the history of the city and

of its different stages of growth, with a glance at its present condition, will

give the reader a more definite and durable impression of such points as he may

desire to retain for his own purposes or for the information of others, than he

could obtain from the best methodized and most complete system of details

unaccompanied by such an outline. This " general view" will,

therefore, present the epochs in the progress of Indianapolis, and leave the

details of development in each to the chapters treating the different

departments which make up the body of its history.




The first settlement of Marion County

may be safely dated in the spring of 1820, though there is a probability of the

arrival of one settler a year earlier, and contemporaneously with the Whetzel

(relatives of the noted Indian-fighter of West Virginia, Lewis Whetzel)

settlement at the bluffs of White River, or, as the Indians called it,

Wah-me-ca-me-ca. In the fall of 1818 the Delaware tribes by treaty ceded to the

United States the region now known as Central Indiana, with a reservation of

possession till 1821. Little more regard was paid to Indian rights then than

since, and settlers began, with leave or without it, to take up lands in the

" New Purchase," as it was called, within six months after the

bargain was made. By midsummer, 1820, there was a little village collected

along and near the east bank of White River, and on the 7th of June the

commissioners of the State Legislature selected it as the site of the future

capital. Congress had given the State, on its admission into the Union in 1816,

four sections, or two miles square, for a capital site, on any of the unsold

lands of the government, and at the junction of Fall Creek and White River the

location was fixed. The town was laid out in the summer of 1821, one mile

square, with the remainder of the four sections divided round it into "

out-lots." The first sale of lots was held in the fall of that year, the proceeds

to go to the erection of such buildings as the State should require at its

capital.  Here begins the first stage of the city's existence.




First Period. — From the first undisputed settlement in the spring of 1820 to

the removal of the State offices from Corydon in the fall of 1824, and the

first meeting of the Legislature the following winter, a period of nearly five

years, Indianapolis was a pioneer village, scattered about in the dense woods, grievously

troubled with chills and fever, and little more encouraged for the future than

any other little county town. The first newspaper was started in 1822, the next

in 1823; the first Sunday-school in 1823; the first church was built in 1824;

the post office opened in March, 1822.




Second Period. — From the arrival of the capital, in a four-horse wagon and ten

days from the Ohio, to the completion of the first railway in October, 1847, an

interval of nearly twenty-three years, the town was passing through its second

stage. It grew from a village to a respectable town, with several partially

developed germs of industries, which have since become second to very few in

the Union, and with a mayor and Council and the name and airs of a city. For

the first eleven years of this period the State Legislature met in the county

court-house. In 1832 came the first town government by " trustees," changed

to " councilman" in 1838, and to " mayor and Council" in

1847. In 1835 the old State House was completed, and the first fire-engine

bought. In 1834 the first bank (the old State Bank) was chartered. In 1832 the

first manufacturing enterprise was put in operation, and failed in a year or two

more. The first brewery, tobacco-factory, linseed-oil mill, paper-mill,

merchant flour-mill, woolen-mill, soap-factory, the first pork-packing, all

date from about 1835 to 1840. An iron foundry was attempted in 1832, but failed

very soon. In 1842 the first steps were taken to establish the Asylum for the

Insane. In 1843 the first tax was levied to prepare for the Asylum for the Deaf

and Dumb. In 1845 a similar levy was made to establish the Asylum for the

Blind. These are all located in or near the city. This was a period of planting

father than growth. The failure of the " Internal Improvement" system

in 1839 left the town with a few miles of useless canal. The river was never

navigable except for flat-boats in spring freshets. But one steamer ever

reached the town, and it did not get back for six months. There were no means

of transportation, natural or artificial, but dirt-roads "

crosslayed" or " corduroyed," and covered four-horse wagons

hauling from Cincinnati at a dollar a hundred. All this restriction of business

and intercourse changed a good deal with the completion of the old Madison

Railroad, which had formed part of the State's system of improvements, and been

sold to a company when the State failed. Within a half dozen years came a

half-dozen more railroads, and the city entered what may be called its "

third period," though, except in its greater rate of progress, there is

little to distinguish it from that which followed it and covers the city's

history to the present time. 




Third Period. — From the completion of the first railroad, Oct. 1, 1847, to the

breaking out of the civil war in April, 1861, a period of thirteen years and a

half, there was a decided quickening of the city's energy and development. To

it belongs the establishment of the free school system in 1853, and the

permanent establishment of all the present leading industries in iron, lumber,

grain, and pork. There were the seeds and some wholesome sprouts of all these

before, but with the opening of railroad transportation came an impulse that

made almost a new creation. The Jeffersonville Railroad, the Bellefontaine (Bee

Line), the Vandalia, and the Lafayette were all completed in 1852, and portions

of all were in operation a year or two earlier. The Central (Pan Handle) was

completed in 1853, the Peru in 1854, the Cincinnati (now with Lafayette making

Cincinnati, Indianapolis, St. Louis and Chicago) in 1853, the Union tracks and

depot in 1853. With the concentration of the State's troops here during the

war, and the business of all kinds required for their care, equipment, and

transportation, came a sudden force of growth which compelled business to

betake itself to several convenient streets, when previously it had been

confined mainly to Washington Street and the vicinity of the Union Depot.

Population more than doubled during this period, from eight thousand in 1850 to

eighteen thousand in 1860, but it nearly tripled from 1860 to 1870. The civil

war and the changes it forced or aided may, therefore, properly mark an epoch

in the city's history and begin the " fourth period." Fourth Period

From 1861 to 1883, twenty-two years, population increased from forty-eight

thousand to about ninety-five thousand, and the amount of business increased in

a still larger proportion. The Junction, the Vincennes, the Bloomington and Western,

the St. Louis, the Springfield and Decatur, the Chicago Air Line, and the Belt

Railroads have all been built in this period, and two others projected. Other results

are better exhibited in a condensed statement of the present condition of the

city, produced by the changes and advances in the sixty-three years covered by

these four periods. One form of these combined results may be stated in the

favorite boast of the citizens, that " Indianapolis is the largest wholly

inland city in the United States." It has not and never has had any

navigable water nearer than the Ohio and the lower Wabash, except; as already remarked,

that freshets in the river occasionally let a few flat-boats, loaded with

grain, or whiskey, or pork, or poultry, or hay, down into the Mississippi to

the towns in the cotton and sugar region. But these opportunities were

uncertain, and the voyages were uncertain when opportunities were used, so that

flat boating never contributed sensibly to the growth of Indianapolis.
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Although the treaty of 1818

expressly conceded the occupancy of the " New Purchase," as it was

called by the whites, to the Indians till 1821, its profusion of game, its

fertility, its abundance of excellent building timber began to allure settlers

from the White Water Valley before a year had passed, and from the Ohio River

before the reservation had expired. It will give the reader a suggestion of the

natural attractions of the country to suggest that Mr. William H. Jones, a

leading dealer in lumber in the city, aided when a boy, in 1824, in catching

young fawns in the vicinity of the present site of the Vandalia Railroad depot and

of the corner of West and Merrill Streets; that Robert Harding, one of the

earliest settlers, killed a deer on the area called the " donation"

for the first Fourth of July celebration and barbecue in 1822; that as late as

1845 or later wild turkeys in their migrations made a roost in a large sugar

grove that covered the portion of the present city site about Meridian, Illinois,

and Tennessee Streets above the crossing of St. Clair or thereabouts. As late

as 1845 a turkey scared from this roost by hunters ran into the city and into

the basement of what was called the " Governor's House," in Circle

Park, and was caught there. Lost quail were frequently heard piping in the back

yards of residences. In 1822 saddles of venison sold at twenty-five to fifty

cents, wild turkeys at ten to twelve and a half, a bushel of wild pigeons for twenty-five

cents. An early sketch of the condition of the country says, " A traveler

who ascended the river a few years prior to the settlement saw the banks frequently

dotted with wigwams and the stream enlivened by Indian canoes. At night parties

for ' fire-hunting' or ' fire-fishing' were frequent among the Indians, and

occasionally formed by their white successors." 




The first settlers drawn to the

New Purchase were Jacob Whetzel and his son Cyrus. The former was the brother,

the latter the nephew of the noted scout and Indian-fighter, Lewis Whetzel, or

Wetzel, distinguished in the bloody annals of West Virginia and Pennsylvania.

" The elder Whetzel," says Mr. Nowland, in his " Prominent

Citizens," " soon after the conclusion of the St. Mary's treaty went

to Anderson, head chief of the Delawares, who lived in the large Delaware town

named for the chief and retaining the name still, and from him obtained

permission to ' blaze a trace' from the White Water in Franklin County to the

Bluffs of White River." It may be as well to explain for the benefit of

later settlers that " blazing" was cutting away a large strip of bark

and wood from a tree-trunk on the side next to the proposed "trace"

or road. Such a mark would remain conspicuous for many months in an

interminable forest without a sign of human presence except that, and a series

of them close together along the line of a proposed road would be a sure and

easy guide to backwoodsmen or any traveler with sense enough to be trusted

alone. The two Whetzels came to the Bluff's in the spring of 1819, before the

government surveys were completed or commenced in some cases. Their settlement

was a little below the present south boundary of the county.




" The first white residents

of the county," Mr. Duncan (before referred to) says, " were Judge

Fabius M. Finch, his father and family, who came to the site of Noblesville or

near it in the spring of 1819, that region being then a part of the county, but

separated in a few years. In the fall of 1818 one Dr. Douglass came up the

river from below to the Bluffs, and remained there a short time, and in

January, 1819, James Paxton came down the river from the upper waters to the

site of the city, and came again a year later in 1820. The first settler in the

present area of the county will probably remain an unsettled question for all

time, as it was a disputed point in 1822, has been ever since, and is more

peremptorily disputed now than ever. The prevailing tradition Is that George

Pogue, a blacksmith from the White Water settlements, came here March 2, 1819,

building a double log cabin on the line of Michigan Street a little way east of

the creek, on the high ground bordering the creek bottom, and lived there with

his family, the solitary occupants of Marion County within its present limits,

till the 27th of the following February, when John and James McCormick arrived

with their families and built cabins on the river bank near the old National

road bridge. The priority of settlement lies between these families and Mr.

Pogue's. Within a few months past one William H. White, of Hancock County,

claims that he was born on the city site Oct. 4, 1819, near where Odd-Fellows'

Hall now stands, on the corner of Washington and Pennsylvania Streets. Old

settlers as early as 1820-21 have no recollection of any account of such an

occurrence, and births were too rare in those days to allow the first one in

the county or any suggestion of it, however vague or doubtful, to be forgotten.

The impression seems to be that Mr. White has been misled by some accidental

confusion or by the failing memory of his relatives. He may be right, but he is

distrusted by settlers who arrived here within a year of the alleged

occurrence, and discredited by. the opportunities of knowing the truth of many

who arrived within two years and repel his claim.




In the summer of 1822, a little

more than a year after Pogue's death, Dr. Samuel G. Mitchell, the oldest

physician in the place, published in the Gazette, the first paper in the place,

a discussion of the pretensions of Pogue to the honor of being the first settler,

in which he maintained that the McCormicks were the first, and that Pogue came

a month later, about the time the Maxwells and Cowan came. No reply was made to

this direct attack on the general opinion of the settlers, which certainly suggests

a reasonable probability that its statement was indisputable, and that the

tradition of a general concurrence in awarding Pogue the credit is ill-founded.

But there comes in here the countervailing consideration that the pioneers of

the backwoods were little given to glorifying the pen or looking to the papers for

instruction. Nobody may have been disposed to take the trouble to contradict

what he knew nobody but Mitchell believed, or he may, very fairly, have

concluded that in a little two-year-old village in the woods it would be less

trouble to contradict the story " by word of mouth" to every man in

the place than to attempt so unusual a feat as writing for the papers. But this

early and public contest of Pogue's claim by an intelligent man, at a time when

there could hardly have been an adult, male or female, who did not know the

truth, creates a strong doubt against the current of tradition. The probability

inclines to Mrs. Pogue's statement at an " Old Settlers' " meeting in

1854, as Mr. Robert B. Duncan remembers it. She was more than fourscore years

old then, but her memory of early events seemed clear and accurate. She said that

her husband and family came here on the 2nd of March, 1820, and the McCormicks

came on the 7th of the same month. This seems to be final as to the first

settlement being made in 1820 instead of 1819, as has generally been believed,

whether it settles the question of individual priority or not. Where two or three

families arrive at a place in a primeval forest within four or five days of

each other, and a mile or two apart, it is easy to see how each set of the

separated settlers may suppose itself the first. Virtually they are

simultaneous arrivals, and the truth, or at least the probability, of history compromises

this long-mooted question by concluding that the Pogues and McCormicks were all

first settlers.




Whether Pogue was the first man

to live here or not, he was certainly the first to die here. Mr. Nowland's

description of the man and account of his death so strikingly exhibit some of

the characteristics of the time and country that it is reproduced here. George Pogue

was a large, broad-shouldered, and stout man, with dark hair, eyes, and

complexion, about fifty years of age, and a native of North Carolina. His dress

was like that of a Pennsylvania Dutchman, a drab overcoat with many capes, and

a broad-brimmed felt hat. He was a blacksmith, and the first of that trade to

enter the ' New Purchase.' To look at the man as we saw him last, one would

think he was not afraid to meet a whole camp of Delawares in battle array,

which fearlessness, in fact, was most probably the cause of his death. One

evening about twilight a straggling Indian, known to the settlers as well as to

the Indians as Wyandotte John, stopped at the cabin of Mr. Pogue and asked to

stay all night. Mr. Pogue did not like to keep him, but thought it best not to

refuse, as the Indian was known to be a bad and very desperate man, having left

his own tribe in Ohio for some offense, and was now wandering among the various

Indiana tribes. His principal lodging-place the previous winter was a hollow

sycamore log that lay under the bluff and just above the east end of the

National road bridge over White River. (Above the site of the bridge, Mr. Nowland

means, as the bridge was not built for more than ten years after.) On the upper

side of the log he had hooks, made by cutting the forks or limbs of bushes, on

which he rested his gun. At the open end of the log next to the water he built

his fire, which rendered his domicile as comfortable as most of the cabins.

After John was furnished with something to eat, Mr. Pogue, knowing him to be traveling

from one Indian camp to another, inquired if he had seen any white man's horses

at any of the camps. John said he had left a camp of Delawares that morning,

describing the place to be on Buck Creek, about twelve miles east, and near

where the Rushville State road crosses that creek; that he had seen horses

there with iron hoofs (they had been shod), and described the horses so

minutely as to lead Mr. Pogue to believe they were his. Although the horses

were described so accurately, Mr. Pogue was afraid that it was a deception to

lure him into the woods, and mentioned his suspicions to his family. When the Indian

left the next morning he took a direction towards the river, where nearly all

the settlement was. Pogue followed him for some distance to see whether he

would turn his course towards the Indian camps, but found that he kept directly

on towards the river. Mr. Pogue returned to bis cabin and told his family he

was going to the Indian camp for his horses. He took his gun, and with his dog set

out on foot for the Delaware camp, and was never afterwards seen or heard of.

We remember that there were a great many conflicting stories about his clothes and

horses being seen in possession of the Indians, all of which were untrue. There

can be no doubt that the Wyandotte told Mr. Pogue the truth in regard to the

horses, and in his endeavor to get possession of them had a difficulty with the

Delawares and was killed, at least that was the prevailing opinion at the time.

Nothing has ever been learned of his fate to this day, further than that he was

never seen or heard of again, though the settlers formed a company to search

all the Indian camps about within fifty miles to find some indication that

might lead to a clearing up of the mystery." Pogue's Creek, once the pride

and now the pest of the city, takes its name from the proto-martyr, if not

proto-settler, of the city and county.




Within a week or two after the

arrival of the McCormicks, John Maxwell and John Cowan came and built on the

high ground near the present crossing of the Crawfordsville road over Fall

Creek, very near the site of the City Hospital. During the following three

months a number of new-comers arrived, and settled principally in the vicinity

of the river. Those best remembered are the Davis brothers (Henry and Samuel),

Isaac Wilson (who built the first cabin on what was afterwards the old town

plat in May), Robert Harding, Mr. Barnhill, Mr. Corbaley, Mr. Van Blaricum.

About the time of the arrival of the last of this first group of pioneers the

State capital was located here by the commissioners appointed by the

Legislature for that purpose.




When the State was admitted into

the Union, April 19, 1816, a donation of four sections — four square miles —

was made by Congress for the site of a capital, to be located wherever the

State might choose upon unsold lands of the government. No selection had been

made or attempted in the four years since the State's admission. The capital,

which bad been kept at Vincennes by Governor Harrison during his administration

as Territorial Governor, from 1801 to 1812, was removed to Corydon, Harrison

Co., by the Legislature, May 1, 1813, and remained there till its permanent

settlement here in the fall of 1824. On the 11th of January, 1820, the

Legislature appointed ten commissioners to make selection of a site for a

permanent capital. They were John Tipton (an old Indian trader), John Conner

(brother of William above referred to, and like him reared from childhood among

the Indians, the founder of Connersville), George Hunt, John Gilliland, Stephen

Ludlow, Joseph Bartholomew, Jesse B. Durham, Frederick Rapp, William Prince,

Thomas Emerson. They were ordered to meet at Conner's place (north of the city)

early in the spring. Apparently only half of them served, as only five votes were

given in determining the selection. But Mr. Nowland says there were nine when

the party got to Conner's, Mr. Prince alone being unable to attend. If this is

correct there must have been four commissioners who did not like any of the

sites examined and declined to vote. A part of them met at Vincennes about the

middle of May, 1820, and were joined there by the father and uncle of Mr.

Nowland, who were on their way to Kentucky from Illinois, but were persuaded to

accompany the commissioners. The party ascended the river to the Bluffs, where the

Whetzels had settled the year before and had been joined by four or five other

families. After resting a day at this point and making an examination of it,

they came on up to the mouth of Fall Creek, and remained a day, some of them

expressing themselves pleased with the country and disposed to put the capital

here. Mr. Nowland told the commissioners that if the location were made here he

would move out in the fall, and do all he could to induce other Kentuckians to

join him. The mouth of Fall Creek had been the customary place of crossing the river

by the whites ever since the White River Valley had been known to them. Mr.

Nowland (the author) says that Lieut. (afterwards General and President) Taylor

told him that he had crossed the river here with his force when going from

Louisville to the Wabash to build Fort Harrison, now Terre Haute, in 1811.

While the force was here Col. Abel C. Pepper, United States Marshal of the

State under Taylor, met Tecumseh, who was on a mission to the Delawares,

doubtless to induce them to join his combination against the whites. The party

went on to Conner's, some sixteen miles north, as before stated, and examined

the situation there. One or two seemed to favor it, but the whole party

returned here, and after re-examining the country, decided on the 7th of June,

1820, by vote of three to two, for the Bluffs, to locate the capital here. On

the 6th of January following, 1821, the selection was approved by the

Legislature and the location decided irrevocably.




The commissioners reported that

they bad selected Sections 1 and 12, east and west fractional sections numbered

2, east fractional section numbered 11, and so much of the east part of west

fractional section numbered 3, to be set off by a line north and south, as will

complete the donation of two thousand five hundred and sixty acres, in Township

15, Range 3 east. The Legislature, after approving the location, named the

future city and capital Indianapolis, the " city of Indiana." The

name was suggested by the late Judge Jeremiah Sullivan, in the committee

charged with the preparation of the confirmatory bill. He gave an interesting

account of the affair in a letter to Governor Baker, which may be pertinently

introduced here: " I have a very distinct recollection of the great diversity

of opinion that prevailed as to the name by which the new town should receive

legislative baptism. The bill, if I remember aright, was reported by Judge

Polk, and was in the main very acceptable. A blank, of course, was left for the

name of the town that was to become the seat of government, and during the two

or three days we spent in endeavoring to fill the blank there was in the debate

some sharpness and much amusement. Gen. Marston G. Clark, of Washington County,

proposed ' Tecumseh' as the name, and very earnestly insisted on its adoption.

When it failed he suggested other Indian names, which I have forgotten. They

all were rejected. A member proposed ' Suwarrow,' which met with no favor. Other

names were proposed, discussed, laughed at, and voted down, and the House,

without coming to any agreement, adjourned until the next day. There were many

amusing things said, but my remembrance of them is not sufficiently distinct to

state them with accuracy. I had gone to Corydon with the intention of proposing

Indianapolis as the name of the town, and on the evening of the adjournment

above mentioned, or the next morning, I suggested to Mr. Samuel Merrill, the

representative from Switzerland County, the name I proposed. He at once adopted

it, and said he would support it. We together called on Governor Jennings, who had

been a witness of the amusing day previous, and told him what conclusion we had

come to, and asked him what he thought of the name. He gave us to understand

that he favored it, and that he would not hesitate to so express himself. When

the House met and went into committee on the bill, I moved to fill the blank

with Indianapolis. The name created quite a laugh. Mr. Merrill, however,

seconded the motion. We discussed the matter fully, gave our reasons in support

of the proposition, the members conversed with each other informally in regard

to it, and the name gradually commended itself to the committee, and was

adopted. The principal reason in favor of adopting the name proposed— to wit,

that the Greek termination would indicate to all the world the locality of the

town — was, I am sure, the reason that overcame the opposition to the name. The

town was finally named Indianapolis with but little if any opposition."

One may well feel puzzled to understand the force exerted by the argument that

" the Greek termination of the name would indicate the locality of the

town." The termination means " city," and that is all. The other

half of the name would indicate locality though, and the combination would fairly

enough suggest a State capital, so that its aptness is evident, whether the

argument that secured it was sound or not.




By the same act of approval and

naming the new capital the Legislature appointed Christopher Harrison (no

relative of the general's), James Jones, and Samuel P. Booker commissioners to

lay off the town. They were directed to meet on the site on the first Monday of

April, 1821, to perform that duty, and make plats or maps of the town, one for

the Secretary of State and one for the State agent. They were also to advertise

and hold a sale of the lots as soon as practicable, reserving the alternate

lots. The proceeds of the sales were to be used in erecting the buildings

required by the government. Harrison was the only one of the commissioners who

attempted to perform his duties. He was a Mary lander by birth, a very

eccentric man, of excellent education and cultivated tastes, who came to

Southern Indiana early in the century, and some years after the completion of

his work as commissioner returned to Maryland, and lived to a ripe old age. It

is said on good authority that he was engaged to be married to Miss Elizabeth

Patterson, a noted belle of Baltimore, but the attentions of Prince Jerome

Bonaparte overpowered her scruples and her faith, and she married the brother

of the great Corsican, only to find herself repudiated by him and excluded from

the ambition that had betrayed her. Mr. Harrison came to Jefferson County about

1804, and lived there the life of a hermit with his dogs and books for several

years, then removed to Salem, Washington Co., and there his rare attainments —

rare in the backwoods at least — and his abilities forced him into public life,

and finally into the position of founder of the city of Indianapolis. He came

to the little yearling village at the time appointed, and selected as surveyors

Alexander Ralston and Elias P. Fordham, with Benjamin I. Blythe as clerk of the

Board of Commissioners




Mr. Blythe lived to an advanced

age in the city, and was one of the earliest of the enterprising men who laid

the foundations of the city's pork-packing prosperity. Of Mr. Fordham little

appears to have been known at the time, and nothing can be learned now. Ralston

was a Scotchman, a man of marked ability and rare attainments as well as high

character. When quite young he had been employed in assisting the laying out of

Washington City, and may have got then the preference for wide streets and

oblique avenues which he exhibited so signally and beneficially here. He became

associated with Burr's expedition, presumably in ignorance of its real

character, as most of the conspirator's following were, came West in connection

with it, and remained when it failed. He remained in Indianapolis after

completing his work, and in 1825 was appointed by the Legislature to survey

White River and make an estimate of the expense of removing the drifts and

snags and other obstructions to navigation, and reported the following winter.

He built a brick residence on West Maryland Street, a half-square west of

Tennessee, and lived there till his death, early in 1827. He was buried in the

" Old Cemetery," and his grave was long unknown. A few years ago,

however, some old residents made a close examination and found it, or were confident

they had.




The Indiana Journal of Jan. 9, 1827,

contained an obituary notice of him, which from his prominence in the

settlement may be reproduced here. He died on the 5th, at the age of fifty-six.

" Mr. Ralston was a native of Scotland, but emigrated early in life to

America. He lived many years at the city of Washington, then at Louisville,

Ky., afterwards near Salem, in this State, and for the last five years in this

place. His earliest and latest occupation in the United States was surveying,

in which he was long employed by the government at Washington, and his removal

to this place was occasioned by his appointment to make the original survey of

it. During the intervening period merchandise and agriculture engaged his

attention. In the latter part of his life he was our county surveyor, and his

leisure time was employed in attending to a neat garden, in which various

useful and ornamental plants, fruit, etc., were carefully cultivated. Mr.

Ralston was successful in his profession, honest in his dealings, gentlemanly

in his deportment, a liberal and hospitable citizen, and a sincere and ardent

friend. He had experienced much both of the pleasures and pains incident to human

life. The respect and esteem of the generous and good were always awarded to

him, and he found constant satisfaction in conferring favors, not only on his

own species, but even on the humblest of the brute creation; he would not

willingly set foot upon a worm. But his unsuspecting nature made him liable to

imposition; his sanguine expectations were often disappointed. His independent

spirit sometimes provoked opposition, and his extreme sensibility was

frequently put to the severest trials. Though he stood alone among us in

respect to family, his loss will be long lamented." Mr. Nowland adds that

the old bachelor's house " was kept for him by a colored woman named

Chancy Lively," who was the second colored person in the place. Dr. Mitchell

brought the first, a boy named Ephraim Ensaw. These were the first colored

residents, but a colored man came out with Mr. Maxwell in 1820, and remained

here a few months. His name was Aaron Wallace, and a few years ago he returned

here to reside .permanently, after an absence of nearly sixty years. "

Aunt Chaney," as she was called, was well known to the South Side

school-boys forty-five or fifty years ago. Her residence was the northwest

corner of Maryland and Meridian Streets. She married a barber named Britton.




On the completion of the

surveying force, work was begun at once in marking out the sections and fractions

selected by the locating commissioners io June, 1820. The whole donation lay

upon the east bank of the river except a fractional section on the west bank,

where Indianola stands. A plat of one mile square was set in the middle of the

donation, and almost in the middle of the plat the Circle was placed, to be

made the site of the Governor's residence. It was not used for that purpose,

however, though a large house was erected there in 1827 at considerable

expense, some six thousand five hundred dollars. The publicity of the situation

made it undesirable as a family residence, and it was used exclusively as rooms

for the judges of the Supreme Court, the State auditor and engineer, the State Library

and State Bank, and occasionally for local or individual purposes. It was

proposed at one time to add wings on each side and make a State House of it. It

was sold as old building material in April, 1857, for six hundred and

sixty-five dollars, and torn down and carried off in the last days of the same

month. The Circle was not put in the center of the donation, because if the center

of the town had corresponded with the center of the donation, it would have

thrown too much of the central portion of the town plat into the valley of

Pogue's Creek. The point where the four sections of the donation "

corner" is about ten feet west and five feet south of the southeast corner

of the lot occupied by the Occidental Hotel. The Circle was set nearly a square

east and two squares north for the purpose stated. A natural elevation at this point,

thickly covered with a growth of tall straight sugar-trees, aided its nearly

central situation in making it the center of the original town plat. It

contains between three and four acres, and is surrounded by an eighty-feet

street




Extending north and south from

the Circle on a meridian line is Meridian Street, and crossing the latter from

east to west is Market Street, both carried to the limits of the city, except

the west end of Market, which is blocked at Blackford Street. Parallel with

Market and one square south is Washington Street, the main thoroughfare of the

city, one hundred and twenty feet wide. The whole plat, one mile square, is

surrounded by ninety-feet streets, called respectively, from their location,

North, South, East, and West. The area inside these limits is divided into

eighty-nine blocks and fractions by nine streets north to south and nine east

to west, each ninety feet wide except Washington. The blocks are four hundred

and twenty feet square, and are divided into four equal parts, each containing

one acre, by alleys fifteen feet wide running north and south, and thirty feet

running east and west. All of the streets, except the two central ones meeting

at the Circle, the main street, and the four bounding the plat, are named for the

States of the Union in 1821. The most marked features of the original design of

the city are the Circle and the avenues radiating from it, and starting at the

corners most remote from it of the four blocks that adjoin it. These are named

for States like the others. The squares are broken by six fractions and three

considerable irregular tracts in Pogue's Run Valley, so that the number of

completed squares is only eighty-nine. The intersections of the streets would

have made one hundred if completion had been possible. Three lots were made of

each quarter of a square or acre, giving to each lot of the original plat

one-third of an acre. Few of these now retain their original dimensions. They

were sixty-seven and one-half feet wide on the streets by one hundred and

ninety-five feet deep, being longer where they abutted upon the narrow alleys.

The half-mile of the donation lying all round the mile square in the middle of

it, except on the river side, was not platted. In 1822 the Legislature ordered

the fraction west of the river to be laid off in tracts of five to twenty acres

by the State agent, and in 1831 he was ordered to lay off all the remainder of

the donation, some nineteen hundred acres, into lots of two to fifty acres, and

sell them at a minimum price of ten dollars an acre. These were used chiefly

for farming purposes and pastures till the growth of the city began to overrun them.

It was never imagined that the city or town would extend to these exterior lots

at all, and that they should be covered by it would have been as incredible as

an Arabian Night tale. Now the city covers nearly three times the area of the

donation. The four streets bounding the old plat — North, South, East, and West

— were not in it at first, but were put there at the solicitation of James

Blake, who represented to Commissioner Harrison the advantages such streets

would be as public drives and promenades when the town grew up.




The act of the Legislature

creating the commission to lay off the town required the appointment of an agent

of the State at six hundred dollars a year for a term of three years, who was

to live at Indianapolis and attend to the disposal of the lots. Gen. John Carr

was the first agent. The place was subsequently held by several persons, among

them James Milroy, Bethuel F. Morris, Ebenezer Sharpe, B. I. Blythe, clerk of

the commission, Thomas H. Sharpe, and John Cook. The duties were finally

transferred to the Secretary of State. The commissioners, or rather one of

them, having completed the survey and plat, advertised the first sale for the

second Monday in October, 1821, and it took place at the tavern of Matthias

Nowland, father of John H. B., author of " Prominent Citizens of

Indianapolis." This stood near Washington Street, west of Missouri; and at

the request of the State agent, Mr. Nowland had built an addition to serve as

an office. Oct. 9, 1821, was " a raw, cold day," says a sketch of the

city's early history written some twenty-five years or more ' ago; " a

high wind prevailed, and a man in attendance came near being killed by a

falling limb." The town was very much crowded. Strangers from various

quarters had come to settle in the new place or to secure property. The three

taverns, kept by Hawkins, Carter, and Nowland, were crowded, and in many cases

the citizens were called upon to share their homes with the new-comers till

they could erect cabins. The bidding at the sale was quite spirited, and,

considering the position and advantages of the settlement, high prices were

obtained in some cases. " The reservation of alternate lots was begun by

the commissioner by reserving lot No. 1." The best sales were north and

east of the bulk of the settlement, which was on and near the river, owing to the

prevalence of chills and fever the summer before, when everybody, old and

young, was down at one time or another, except Enoch Banks, Thomas Chinn, and

Nancy Hendricks. This visitation gave an eastern impulse to settlement, and

accounts for the higher prices of lots more remote from the river. The number

of lots sold amounted to three hundred and fourteen, mostly in the central and

northern parts of the plat, and the total value of the sales was thirty-five

thousand five hundred and ninety-six dollars and twenty-five cents. The highest

price brought by a single lot was by the lot on Washington Street, west of the

Court-House Square, which brought five hundred and sixty dollars. That on the

same street, west of the State-House Square, brought five hundred dollars. The intervening

lots sold from one hundred to three hundred dollars each. The conditions of the

sale required the payment of one-fifth of the purchase-money down, and the

remainder in four equal annual installments.




The sales continued a week, and

the amount paid down was seven thousand one hundred and nineteen dollars and

twenty-five cents. Thomas Carter was auctioneer, and the late James M. Ray

clerk of these first sales. Not a few of these lots are now worth one thousand

dollars a front foot, some are worth more. " Outlots" that were sold

at first for ten, twenty, or thirty dollars could not be bought now for as many

thousands, in some cases twice that. Of the lots purchased at this first sale,

one hundred and sixty-nine were afterwards forfeited, or the payments made on

one lot were transferred to another, under an act passed a little later "

for the relief of purchasers of lots in Indianapolis." The early sketch

already referred to says, " These forfeited lots and the reserved lots

were once or twice afterwards offered at public sale, and kept open for

purchase all the time. But prices became depressed, money scarce, sickness

caused general despondency, and for several years after the winter of 1821-22

there were but few lots sold. The amount of cash reserved by the State for

donation lands up to 1842 was about one hundred and twenty-five thousand

dollars." This the law made a public building fund, out of which was

erected a State-House, court-house. Governor's house (in the Circle),

treasurer's house and office, office of clerk of the Supreme Court, and a

ferryman's house at the foot of Washington Street.




The settlers brought to the new

capital by the report of its selection for that purpose speedily trebled its

population, and more. During the summer and fall of 1820 there came Dr. Samuel

G. Mitchell, John and James Givan (among the first merchants), William or

Wilkes Reagan, Matthias Nowland, James M. Ray, James Blake, Nathaniel Cox,

Thomas Anderson, John Hawkins, Dr. Livingston Dunlap, Daniel Yandes, David

Wood, Col. Alexander W. Russell, Dr. Isaac Coe, Douglass Maguire, and others unnamed

and not easily identified as to the time of arrival. Morris Morris is said by

one of these early sketches to have come here in 1819, in the fall (probably

inadvertently for 1820), when he came only in the fall of 1821. Mr. Nowland

says that James M. Ray, James Blake, Daniel Yandes, the Givans, Dr. Mitchell,

Dr. Coe, Dr. Dunlap, Col. Russell came the following spring and summer, 1821,

and with them Daniel Shaffer, the first merchant, who died in the summer of

1821, Robert Wilmot, and Calvin Fletcher, the first lawyer. It is impossible

now to make a complete list of the settlers up to the laying out of the town

and the first sale of lots, but with the help of such records as have been

made, and such memories as are accessible, a muster-roll of considerable

interest can be made: 




 




George Pogue (blacksmith),

possibly, 1819, spring




Fabius M. Finch (lawyer), 1819,

summer




John McCormick (tavern), 1820,

spring




James McCormick, 1820, spring




John Maxwell (squire), 1820,

spring




John Cowan, 1820, spring




Robert Harding (farmer), 1820,

spring




Van Blaricum (farmer), 1820,

spring




Henry Davis (chairmaker), 1820,

spring




Samuel Davis (chairmaker), 1820,

spring




Jeremiah J. Corbaley (farmer),

1820, spring




Robert Barnhill (farmer), 1820,

spring




Isaac Wilson (miller), 1820,

spring




Matthias Nowland (mason), 1820,

fall




Dr. S. G. Mitchell, 1820, fall




Thomas Anderson (wagonmaker),

1820, fall




Alexander Ralston (surveyor),

1820, fall




Dr. Isaac Coe, 1820, spring




James B. Hull (carpenter), 1820,

winter




Andrew Byrne (tailor), 1820, fall




Michael Ingals (teamster), 1820,

winter




Kenneth A. Scudder (first

drug-store), 1820, summer




Conrad Brussell (baker), 1820,

fall




Milo R. Davis (plasterer), 1820,

winter




Samuel Morrow, 1820, summer




James J. McIlvain ('squire),

1820, summer




Eliakim Harding ('squire), 1821,

summer




Mr. Lawrence (teacher), 1821,

summer




Daniel Larkins (grocery), 1821,

summer




Lismund Basye (Swede), 1821, fall




Robert Wilmot (merchant), 1820,

winter




James Kittleman (shoemaker), 1821




Andrew Wilson (miller), 1821




John McClung (preacher), 1821,

spring




Daniel Shaffer, 1821, January




Jeremiah Johnson (farmer), 1820,

spring




Wilkes Reagan (butcher), 1821,

summer




Obed Foote (lawyer), 1821, summer




Calvin Fletcher (lawyer), 1821,

fall




James Blake, 1821, spring




Alexander W. Russell (merchant),

1821, spring




Caleb Scudder, 1821, fall




George Smith (first publisher),

1821, fall




James Scott (Methodist preacher),

1821, fall




O. P. Gaines (first Presbyterian

preacher), 1821, summer




James Linton (millwright), 1821,

summer




Joseph C. Reed (first teacher),

1821, spring




James Paxton (militia officer),

1821, fall




Daniel Yandes (first tanner),

1821, January




Caleb Scudder (cabinet-maker),

1821, fall




George Myers (potter), 1821, fall




Nathaniel Bolton (first editor),

1821, fall




Amos Hanway (cooper), 1821,

summer




John Shunk (hatter), 1821, fall




Isaac Lynch (shoemaker), 1821,

fall




James M. Ray (coach-lace maker),

1821, summer




David Mallory (barber), 1821,

spring




John Y. Osborn, 1821, spring




Samuel Henderson (first

postmaster), 1821, fall




Samuel Rooker (first painter),

1821, summer




Thomas Johnson (farmer), 1820,

winter




Robert Patterson, 1821, fall




Aaron Drake (first mail), 1821




William Townsend, 1820, summer




J. R. Crumbaugh, 1821




Harvey Gregg, 1821, fall




Nathaniel Cox (carpenter), 1821




 




Some thirty-three years ago the

late Samuel Merrill, Treasurer of State at the time of the removal of the

capital from Corydon to Indianapolis in the fall of 1824, and charged with the

supervision of the work, prepared a map illustrating the progress of the town

at different periods, 1821, 1823, 1835, and 1850, to accompany the first

historical sketch of the city, prepared by him for the first "

Gazetteer," issued in 1850 by Chamberlain & Co., booksellers in the town.

The reader, understanding the old plat of the city, and observing that its

western boundary at West Street was about a quarter of a mile from the river,

will see quite accurately the size and location of the infant settlement of

1821 from a description of the outline on this map. It extended along Washington

Street, wholly south of it, to a point a little less than a block east of West

Street, and was less than a block in width for a distance equal to two blocks,

when it began widening, and at the river reached from about the point where

Georgia Street strikes the bank to the old National road bridge. The little

settlement of Maxwell and Cowan farther north, near the site of the City

Hospital, seems to have been completely detached from the main body of the

village. In 1823, the year before the arrival of the capital, the settlement

had shifted entirely away from the river, its western extremity being near West

Street, and it extended in a narrow line about a block in width on each side of

Washington Street to Meridian Street, where a point ran south to Georgia Street

on each side of Meridian, while east of it, and passing east of the Circle,

another point projected north as far as Ohio Street, and a third point along

Washington carried the settlement to a point about half-way between Alabama and

New Jersey Streets. The shape of it is an exact cross, with one arm a little

higher than the other. In 1835 the town had been under its own government by

trustees for two or three years, had established a brewery and several

manufactures, besides those for custom service, had been the capital for over

ten years, had nearly completed the State-House, had a population of about two

thousand, and the county that year, as announced by Mr. Calvin Fletcher in a

public address, contained thirteen hundred farms, and had produced one million

three hundred thousand bushels of corn. In this condition of things the town

formed an irregular figure, much like a balloon, with the neck near West

Street, and the " bulge" opening pretty rapidly up north to Michigan

Street, reaching east to New Jersey, and then south to Georgia and a little below;

at the widest place, north to south, covering seven squares, and its greatest

length along Washington Street very nearly covering the mile of the plat. In

1850 it covered all of the plat but the northwest, southwest, and southeast

corners, and more than made up for these deficiencies by projecting beyond it

on the northeast, the east, and the south along the Bluff road or South

Meridian Street.




In May, 1820, in three months

after the first settlement, or in any case after the first indications of a possible

settlement of more than a family or two, there were fifteen or twenty families

on the donation. These increased to thirty or forty during the succeeding year

to July, when the sales of government lands in this and adjoining counties

began at the land office in Brookville, Franklin Co. Happily for the pioneers

of 1820, there was not so much sickness as might have been expected, and

nothing comparable to the visitation the next year, and, quite as happily,

nature had provided a " deadening," in which they raised with little

labor comparatively all the corn and vegetables they needed to make a comfortable

subsistence with the abundance of fish and game to be had close at hand and

with little trouble. This natural " deadening" lay at the northwest

corner of the donation, and contained some hundred or more acres. The trees had

been killed by caterpillars, and the pioneers cleared off the underbrush together,

and held the field in common, simply marking off each family's share by what

Mr. Nowland calls " turn-rows." This was known as the "big

field" for several years. Its products were chiefly corn and pumpkins. In

addition to this provision for the staples of vegetable food, each family had a

truck-patch in the rear of their log cabin, where they raised such vegetables

as they required for immediate use, including the " love-apple," or tomato,

which nobody dreamed of eating for twenty years afterwards. Little more belongs

to the history of this first year of the city's settlement than an account of

the condition and modes of life of the settlers, and that being much the same

for all the early years of the settlement will be told for all at once




The year 1821 was an eventful one

for the infant capital. During the summer the donation had been surveyed and

the original city plat made, and a number of the men who were to be most

conspicuous in its after-history, in spreading its business, establishing its

industries, founding its schools, maintaining its morality, its Fletcher,

Yandes. Blake, Ray, Morris, Russell, Dunlap, Brown, Landis, had come or were on

the way. It was a year of universal sickness, privation, and suffering. Says an

early account, " Towards the end of summer and during the fall epidemic

remittent and intermittent fevers and agues assailed the people, and scarcely a

person was left untouched. (In another place it is told that Nancy Hendricks,

Enoch Banks, and Thomas Chinn were all that escaped.) The few healthy ones were

employed day and night in ministering to the wants of the sufferers, and many

instances of generous and devoted friendship occurred at this time. The recollection

of their bitter sufferings bound the early settlers together in after-life. The

new-comers might well be appalled at the prospect before them, and it is no

wonder that extravagant stories were circulated of the sickness at

Indianapolis. Although nearly every person in the settlement was more or less

assailed, and several hundred cases occurred during the prevalence of the epidemic,

not more than., twenty-five terminated fatally. As winter approached the health

of the community improved, and by the end of the year it was entirely restored.

No cause was discovered for the unparalleled visitation, which the old settlers

hold to this day in vivid remembrance." The report of this calamity went

abroad, and for many years more or less affected the otherwise strong

inducements of the settlement to new settlers, and for thirty years malarial

disorders came almost as regularly as the seasons. The " sickly

season" was as well-known and well defined a period as the "

dogdays," and continued so till the general clearing of the county and

drying out of low bottom lands and swamps had diminished the sources of

malarial influence. The effect of the epidemic of 1821 on the settlement was to

force it back from the river, and extend it eastward past the Circle and Court-House

Square along Washington Street.




The first death in the

settlement, by tradition, was that of Daniel Shaffer, a merchant, who came

early in the year, opened a store on the high ground south of the creek, near

the present line of South Street, and died in the summer following. The first

woman that died was the wife of John Maxwell, one of the first two settlers

after the McCormicks in the spring of 1820. She died 3rd of July, 1821, and was

buried on the bluff of Fall Creek, near the site of the City Hospital. Eight

persons were buried there during the epidemic. Mr. Commissioner Harrison was

scared off home by it, but before he went he authorized Daniel Shaffer, James

Blake, and Matthias R. Nowland to select a site for a cemetery. " One

Sunday morning early in August," says Mr. J. H. B. Nowland, " they

selected the place now known as the Old Graveyard. One week from that day Mr.

Shaffer was buried there." If his memory is correct Mrs. Maxwell's was the

first death in the settlement, and the traditional burial of Shaffer near the

corner of South and Pennsylvania Streets, and subsequent removal to the "

Old Graveyard," now " Greenlawn Cemetery," is a mistake. Most of

the burials during the epidemic were in that first cemetery




Following this visitation came

another hardly less intolerable. The universal sickness prevented the cultivation

of the " caterpillar deadening," and the influx of settlers at and

after the first sales of lots made provisions distressingly scarce. Coffee was fifty

cents a pound; tea, two dollars; corn, one dollar a bushel; flour, four to five

dollars a hundred; coarse muslin or " factory," forty-five cents a

yard. There were no roads into the settlement, nor anything better than

cow-paths. All goods and provisions had to be carried on horseback from the

White Water Valley, sixty miles away. The nearest grist-mill was Goodlander's,

on the White Water. Corn was mainly bought of the Indians up the river and

brought down in boats. Later keel-boats brought considerable cargoes of flour,

whiskey, and powder, chiefly up the river. The settlers considered each one's

stock of provisions the property of all that needed it, and divided with

unstinted generosity.




The year 1821 was marked by the

establishment of the first business house, the store of Daniel Shaffer. He was

followed in a short time by James and John Givan, the latter of whom became a

vagrant and pauper, supported by an annuity contributed by the merchants of the

city, and died only a few years ago, a very old man, with a marvelous memory of

events and persons of that early time. Robert Wilmot began merchandising about

the same time, or perhaps a little earlier, near the present corner of

Washington and West Streets, in a row of cabins called " Wilmot's Row."

Luke Walpole opened in the same business in the fall on the southwest corner of

the State-House Square, Jacob Landis on the southeast corner, and Jeremiah

Johnson on the northwest corner of Market and Pennsylvania. The first log

school-house was built the same year, about where Kentucky Avenue enters

Illinois Street, near a large pond. The first teacher was Joseph C. Reed,

afterwards the first county recorder. The first log house on the old city plat

was built by Isaac Wilson in the spring of 1820, on the northwest corner of

what was afterwards the State-House Square. The first frame house was built by

James Blake on the lot east of Masonic Hall in the fall of 1821. The timber had

been cut during the summer by James Paxton on the donation. This was the first

plastered house. That winter Thomas Carter, the auctioneer of the lot sales,

built a ceiled frame tavern about where No. 40 West Washington Street is, and

called it the " Rosebush," in the old English fashion of naming

taverns, from a rough painting of that object on the sign. It was long after

removed to a point near the canal, and then to West Street near Maryland. John

Hawkins had built a log tavern the fall before on Washington Street, north

side, near the middle of the block east of Meridian. It may be noted in this

connection, though chronologically dislocated, that the first brick building

was erected for John Johnson in 1822-23, on a lot opposite the site of the

post-office. It was torn down a few years ago to make room for a better

structure. Though the Johnson house was undoubtedly the first brick building in

the town, it is not so certain that it was the first in the county. Old

residents of Wayne township, like Mr. Slattern and Mr. Gladden, say that a

two-story brick residence was built by John Cook in 1821, in what is now

Maywood, near the line of Wayne and Decatur townships. In its latter days,

thirty-five or forty years ago, it cracked through the middle, and was held

together by a hoop of large square logs, notched at the corners and wedged tight,

between the lower and upper stories. It was a rare style of repair for a

building of any kind, and may still be remembered by old residents on that

account. It stood on the northern bluff of a low, level, wet prairie, the only

one in the county, of which the now drained and cultivated remains, with

possible patches of the original condition, are on the southern border of

Maywood, and near the residence of Fielding Beeler, Esq. James Linton built the

first two-story house, a frame, in the spring of 1822, on the site of No. 76

West Washington Street. He also built the first saw-mill on Fall Creek, above

the Indiana Avenue or Crawfordsville road bridge, and about the same time built

the first grist-mill for Isaac Wilson on Fall Creek bayou, now known as "

the race," near the line of North Street.




The year 1821 saw the beginning

of moral and intellectual culture as well as business. A school was taught by

Mr. Reed during the latter part of the year, and Rev. John McClung, a preacher

of what was called the " New Light" denomination, preached in the

spring, some say in the sugar grove on the little knoll in the Circle. It is a

question among the few old settlers who remember the occurrence whether that

was the first sermon heard in the New Purchase or one preached not far from the

same time by Rev. Rezin Hammond. Mr. Nowland says that if Mr. McClung preached

in the settlement that spring it must have been at Mr. Barnhill's, who belonged

to the same denomination but lived outside of the donation. An old settler

wrote in one of the city papers recently that Mr. Hammond preached near the

site of the old State Bank, corner of Illinois Street and Kentucky Avenue, near

a pond, which must have been close to the site of the first schoolhouse, while

others say he preached in the woods on the State-House Square. Mr. Nowland,

years afterwards, met Mr. Hammond at Jeffersonville, and this first sermon was

recalled. The party surveying the town, under Ralston, were then at work near

the Circle, and they prepared on Saturday evening for the sermon next day by

rolling logs together for seats and building a rough log rostrum. Not more than

forty or fifty persons attended. " A few moments after the services

commenced," says Mr. Nowland, " an Indian and his squaw came by on

their ponies. They halted a moment, and passed on towards the trading-house of

Robert Wilmot. He was in the congregation, and at once rose and followed them;

but before he was out of hearing Mr. Hammond said, ' The pelts and furs of the

Indians had more attractions for his Kentucky friend than the words , of God.'

There can be little doubt," Mr. Nowland concludes, " that this was

the first sermon preached in Indianapolis; it was so regarded at the

time." In August of the same year Rev. Ludlow G. Gaines, a Presbyterian

clergyman, preached in the grove south of the State-House Square. No church

organization was attempted, however, till the spring of 1823. In July it was

completed, and steps taken to build a church on North Pennsylvania Street, on

the site of the Exchange Block. It was finished, at a cost of twelve hundred

dollars, and occupied in 1824. The " Indianapolis Circuit" of the

Methodist Church was organized by Rev. William Cravens in 1822, under authority

of the Missouri Conference, but Rev. James Scott had preached here in private houses

as early as October, 1821, by appointment of the same authority. A camp-meeting

had been held in 1822, September 12th, and a second one in May, 1823, after the

organization of the circuit, but no house was occupied specially as a church

till the summer of 1825, when a hewed-log house on Maryland Street near

Meridian was bought for three hundred dollars and used for four years. In 1828-29

a brick building was erected, at a cost of three thousand dollars, on the

southwest corner of Circle and Meridian Streets, which became, when replaced in

1846, "Wesley Chapel." The first Baptist Church was organized in

September, 1822, but held services in private houses or in a log school-house

" on and partly in Maryland Street," between Tennessee and

Mississippi Streets, which could be had " without interruption," as a

committee reported in May, 1823, till a brick house was built on the southwest

corner of Maryland and Meridian Streets in 1829. These were the beginnings of

the three pioneer churches in Indianapolis and the New Purchase. They are noted

here to present as complete a view as possible of the early settlement and history

of the city and county.




In the summer of 1821 the first

marriage occurred. The bride was Miss Jane Reagan, the groom Jeremiah Johnson,

who had to walk through an unbroken and pathless forest sixty miles to

Connersville for his license (this county at that time having no organization),

and the walk back made one hundred and twenty miles. He was an eccentric man,

witty, cynical, with a fashion of retracting his lips when talking so as to

show his yellow, tobacco-stained teeth, giving him something of the expression of

a snarling dog. He was full of humorous conceits and quaint comparisons, and a delightful

companion for young men when he was " tight" enough to feel jolly, as

he frequently was. When the first telegraph line was completed to the city in

1848, " Old Jerry" saw it as ho was passing along Washington Street

comfortably " full," and broke out in a sort of apostrophe, "

There! they're driving lightning down the road, and with a single line at

that!" Anyone who has seen a team driven by a " single line"

will appreciate " Old Jerry's" joke. He died very suddenly in 1857.




Among other first events that

have traditionally marked this year was the birth of the first child. But the

tradition of that interesting occurrence is contested by two living witnesses,

who rather confuse 3 one's faith, and leave a slight leaning to the skepticism which

would doubt if any child was born at all. The traditional opinion, supported by

two or three historical sketches, is that Mordecai Harding was that memorable

infant, but tradition and history are both impeached by Mr. William H. White

(before referred to) and by Mr. Shirts, of Hamilton, who claims that Mr.

Corbaley's son Richard was the first, in August, 1820, at his residence in the

western part of the donation. Mr. Nowland denies the donation, says Mr.

Corbaley lived west of the west donation line, but concedes the principal fact.

Mr. White's claim is disputed by the general opinion of old settlers, but the

other seems to be settled.




During the whole of the year 1820

the " New Purchase" formed part of Delaware County, which, then

unorganized, vaguely covered most of the northern and central portions of the

State, and was attached for judicial purposes to Wayne and Fayette Counties. The

residents of White River Valley were sued and compelled to answer in the courts

of the White Water Valley, sixty miles away, and the compulsion was costly,

irritating, and intolerable. The jurisdiction was disputed and resisted, and

the Legislature, to avoid further and graver trouble, passed an act of Jan. 9,

1821, authorizing the appointment of two justices of the peace for the new

settlements, with appeals to the Bartholomew Circuit Court. In April, 1821,

Governor Jennings appointed John Maxwell, but he retained the office only a few

months, and resigned. The settlers then elected informally James McIlvaine, and

the Governor commissioned him in October. He is described by the old residents

who remember him, and by the sketches that speak of this period of the city's history,

as holding court at the door of his little log shanty, on the northwest corner

of Pennsylvania and Michigan Streets, with the jury sitting on a log in front,

his pipe in his mouth, and Corbaley, the solitary constable, vigilantly

crossing the plans of culprits to get away into the thick woods close about, as

they are said to have done sometimes in spite of him. The late Calvin Fletcher

was then the only lawyer, and the primary court of informal appeal for the

easily-puzzled old squire. The positions of counsel and judge are not often

consolidated in the same hands, — it is too easy for one to use and abuse the

other; but it was never charged that Mr. Fletcher misled his confidant in his

own interest.




The first especially exciting

incident in the quiet course of the settlement brought the judicial power into

a dilemma, from which it escaped by a process that did more credit to its

ingenuity than its sense of justice. On Christmas-day, 1821, four Kentucky

boatmen who had come up White River from the Ohio in a keel-boat to the Bluffs,

thought that the new settlement farther up would be a good place for frolic,

and they came and got howling drunk before daylight at Dan Larkins' "

grocery," as liquor-shops were called in those days, and frequently were a

mixture of saloon and grocery-store. As usual with the " half-horse and half-alligator"

men of the Mike Fink breed, the predecessors of the " cow-boy," they

began smashing the doggery as soon as they had got all the liquor they wanted.

The row roused the settlement, and the gentlemen from Kentucky were

respectfully requested to desist and make less noise. They responded with a

defiance backed by knives. The settlers consulted. They did not want the

whiskey wasted, and they did want a quiet Christmas, or at least to make their

own disturbance. They determined to put down the rioters. James Blake proposed

to take the leader single-handed if the rest of Indianapolis would "

tackle" the other three, and the consolidated remainder of the embryo

capital agreed. Blake and the Kentuckian were both large, powerful men, but the

Hoosier was sober and resolute, and the Kentuckian drunk and furious, so the

rioters were captured and taken to Squire McIlvaine's. They were tried, fined

severely, and in default of payment ordered to jail. There was no jail nearer

than Connersville, and it would cost as much as their fines to take them there

in the dead of winter under guard, so they were kept under guard here, with

instructions to allow a little relaxation of vigilance in the night, and the hint

was followed by the convenient escape of the whole party.




Notwithstanding the appointment

of justices, the courts of Wayne and Fayette Counties still claimed jurisdiction,

and doubts were entertained of the validity of the appointment of Maxwell and McIlvaine.

To remedy all difficulties the citizens held a meeting at Hawkins' tavern to

discuss the matter, and James Blake and Dr. S. G. Mitchell were appointed

representatives of the settlement to attend the next session of the Legislature

at Corydon as lobby members to secure an organization of the county. On the

28th of November the Legislature legalized the acts of Commissioner Harrison,

he having acted alone in surveying the donation and laying off the town. It may

be noted here as an indication of the readiness of the Legislature to encourage

the growth of the place that on the 31st of December, 1821, an .act authorized

Gen. Carr, the agent, to lease to McCartney and McDonald forty acres of the

donation for ten years free, to be occupied as a mill-seat. On the same day an

act was passed organizing the county, and requiring the organization to be

completed on the 1st of April, 1822. It applied the present Court-House Square

to that purpose, and provided for the erection of a court-house fifty feet

square and two stories high, and appropriated eight thousand dollars to it. The

courts that held sessions in the capitol, Federal, State, and county, were to

use it forever if they chose, and the State Legislature was to use it for fifty

years or till a State-House should be built. Two per cent, of the lot fund was

to be given for the founding of a county library. The sessions of court and the

elections were to be held at Gen. Carr's till the court-house was built.

Johnson, Hamilton, and a large part of Boone, Madison, and Hancock were attached

to this county for judicial purposes. Marion, Monroe, Owen, Greene, Morgan,

Lawrence, Rush, Hendricks, Decatur, Bartholomew, Shelby, and Jennings Counties

were formed into the Fifth Judicial Circuit. William W. Wick, of Connersville,

was elected president judge by the Legislature, and Harvey Bates, of the same

place, was appointed sheriff by the Governor. They both came on and assumed

their offices the following February, 1822. The latter, by a proclamation of

Feb. 22, 1822, ordered an election to be held on the 1st of the next April for

two associate judges, a clerk, recorder, and three county commissioners. The

voting precincts were fixed at Gen. Carr's, in the town; John Page's, at

Strawtown, in Hamilton County; John Berry's, Andersontown, Madison Co.; and

William McCartney's, on Fall Creek, near Pendleton. Returns were to be

forwarded by the 3rd of April.




William W. Wick was a

Pennsylvanian by birth, but came to Connersville, in this State, when a young man,

and from there came to Indianapolis to assume the duties of his office. Ex-Senator

Oliver H. Smith said that in 1824 " he, though a young lawyer, had had a

good deal of experience in criminal cases." During his term as judge of

the huge circuit, now formed into a half-dozen, he was elected

brigadier-general of militia, no unimportant position in those days to an

ambitious young man. He was Secretary of State for four years, from 1825 to

1829, then prosecuting attorney, and in 1833 was beaten for Congress by George

L. Kinnard. He was successful though in 1839, and served in the House during

the memorable " log cabin and hard cider" campaign of 1840. He was

elected again in 1845, and re-elected in 1847. In 1853 he was made postmaster

by President Pierce, and on the expiration of his term in 1857 he retired from

public life altogether. Soon afterwards he went to Franklin and made his home

with his daughter, and died there in 1868.




Hervey Bates, who was appointed

sheriff by Governor Jennings, was a son of Hervey Bates, who was a master of

transportation during the Indian war under Gens. Wayne and Harmar, and chiefly

engaged in forwarding provisions and munitions of war from the frontier posts

to the army in the wilderness. His son Hervey, the subject of this biographical

sketch, was a native of Cincinnati, Ohio, and born in that place in 1795, when

it was called Fort Washington. When but about six years of age he lost his

mother, and, his father having married again, he left the paternal roof, and in

Warren, Lebanon County, Ohio, met with friends through whose agency he received

a sufficient English education to qualify him for the ordinary pursuits of

life. On attaining his majority he came to Brookville, Franklin County, where

he married Miss Sidney Sedwick, cousin of the late Gen. James Noble, United

States senator. During the year 1816 he cast, in Brookville, his first vote for

a delegate to form a new constitution for the State of Indiana. Soon after Mr.

Bates' marriage he removed to Connersville, and made it his residence until

February, 1822, when Indianapolis, then a mere hamlet, became his home.

Jonathan Jennings, the first Governor after. the admission of the State into

the Union, appointed William W. Wick president judge of the then Fifth Judicial

District, and Hervey Bates, sheriff of Marion County, which then embraced several

neighboring counties for judicial purposes, investing the latter with full

power for placing in operation the necessary legal machinery of the county.

This he did by issuing a proclamation for an election to be held on the first

day of April, for the purpose of choosing a clerk of the court and other county

officers, which was the first election of any kind held in the new purchase.

Mr. Bates was, at the following election held in October, made sheriff for the

regular term of two years, but declined a subsequent nomination, having little

taste for the distinctions of office. Mercantile pursuits subsequently engaged

his attention, to which he brought his accustomed energy and industry, and

enjoyed success in his various business enterprises.




Mr. Bates was the earliest

president of the branch of the State Bank located in Indianapolis, and filled the

position for ten years, during which time it enjoyed a career of unparalleled

success, and greatly advanced the interests of the business community. Through

the substantial aid afforded by this bank, most of the surplus produce of this

and adjacent counties found a profitable market. Mr. Bates was also

instrumental in the formation of the earliest insurance company, was a

stockholder in the first hotel built by a company, in the first railroad finished

to the city of his residence, the earliest gaslight and coke company, and in

many other enterprises having for their object the public welfare. In 1852 he

began and later completed the spacious hotel! known as the Bates House, at that

time one of the most complete and elegant in the West. It was erected at a cost

of sixty thousand dollars, and modern improvements added, making a total cost

of seventy-five thousand dollars. Many other public and private buildings in

various portions of the city owe their existence to the enterprise and means of

Mr. Bates. He was a generous contributor to all worthy religious and benevolent

objects, and willingly aided in the maintenance of the various charitable institutions

of Indianapolis. Rev. Henry Ward Beecher found in him a cordial friend when a

resident of the city, and in his less prosperous days. The death of Mr. Bates

occurred on the 6th of July, 1876, in his eighty-third year, his wife having

died previously. His children are Hervey Bates and Mrs. L. M. Vance, both of

Indianapolis, and Elizabeth H., deceased.




While this first election is

pending a return may be made for a moment to pick up some incidents of the

settlement that occurred between the sale of lots in October, 1821, and the

election, April 1, 1822. No clearing of the streets had been attempted when the

sales took place. Each little cabin was stuck away in its own little hole in

the dense woods, and they were so dense that a man standing near the site of

Bingham & Walk's jewelry-store could not see a house half-way down the

block on the other side of Washington Street, west of Meridian; so say old

settlers and common tradition. Gen. Morris once said that it was just like

camping out in a forest on a hunting expedition when he came here with his father

in 1821, except that the camping-places were cabins instead of tents or brush

houses. One neighbor could not see the next one's house. Hawkins built his

tavern of logs cut on the lot in the very center of Washington Street. For many

years the less settled streets were more or less filled with trees and brush,

and the only way along them was a cow-path. In order to open Washington Street,

which the plan of the town had appointed for the principal thoroughfare, an

offer was made by the settlers to give the timber to anybody who would clear

off the trees. It would have been a very profitable contract a year later. The

offer was accepted by Lismond Basye, a Swede, who had come from Franklin County

that same fall. The trees were oak, ash, and walnut chiefly, and he thought he

had a small fortune safe




When he had got them all down,

and the street " to be" was worse blocked than before, and there was

no mill to saw them, he gave up the job in despair, and the people burned the

superb timber as it lay. In January, 1822, the Legislature ordered the opening

of a number of roads, and appropriated nearly one hundred thousand dollars to

it, greatly to the satisfaction of the entirely isolated settlers. In the same

month the State agent was instructed to lease unsold lots on condition that the

lessees would clear them in four months, and this, as a step towards getting

the settlement in something like civilized condition, was a gratifying measure.

The lessees were allowed forty days to remove their improvements if the lots

should be sold during their occupancy of them.




On the 28th of January, 1822, the

first newspaper of the settlement was issued by George Smith and Nathaniel

Bolton, his step-son, called the Indianapolis Gazette. Mr. Nowland's memoir of

Mr. Smith says " the printing-office was in one corner of the cabin in which

the family lived," and the cabin was near a row of cabins built by Mr.

Wilmot, called " Smoky Row," west of the line of the future canal and

near Maryland Street. In the second year the office was moved to the northeast

corner of the State-House Square. Mr. Smith learned the printer's trade in the office

of the Observer of Lexington, Ky., and subsequently worked upon the Liberty

Hall and Gazette of Cincinnati, under the noted editor, Charles Hammond. In

later life he lived in a frame house on the northeast corner of Georgia and

Tennessee Streets, the ground now forming a part of the Catholic property about

the St. John's Cathedral and the bishop's residence. Here about 1840, John

Hodgkins established the first ice-cream or " pleasure garden," as it

was called, and built the first ice-house, and laid down a little circular

railway with a little locomotive to run upon it. Mr. Smith served two terms as

associate judge of the county, and was the first man in the place to open a

real estate agency, which he did in 1827. Some years before his death he bought

a farm at Mount Jackson, which now forms part of the grounds of the Insane

Asylum, and there he died in April, 1826, at the age of fifty-two. He was

rather an eccentric man, but notoriously liberal to the poor.




He and Governor Ray wore "

cues" in the old Revolutionary fashion. .The Governor discarded his in his

old age, but Mr. Smith held to his as tenaciously as a Chinaman. Some catarrhal

affection, probably, brought a fit of sneezing on him nearly every morning

early after he had dressed and got out of doors, and that sonorous sound could

be heard by all the neighbors as far and as plainly and about as early as the

morning song of his roosters.




Nathaniel Bolton was a

book-binder by trade. He became much better known to the Indianapolis people than

Mr. Smith. He continued to edit the Gazette after the other had sold out his

interest, when he had a larger constituency to speak for, and his wife, Sarah T.

Barrett, of Madison, the earliest and most gifted and conspicuous of the

poetesses of the State, helped his reputation by the abundance of her own. He was

made consul at Geneva, Switzerland, in 1853, whence his wife wrote many letters

to the Journal, then under the direction of an old friend, Mr. Sulgrove. In

May, 1857, he came back in consequence of failing health, and died in a few

months. For several years after he had sold his interest in the Gazette, he and

his wife kept a country tavern on the farm that Mr. Smith lived on before his

death at Mount Jackson. Mrs. Bolton is now living in a pleasant house in the

country about three miles southeast of the city, and still frequently publishes

. fugitive verses on passing occurrences that interest her, especially the

death of old friends, marked with all the fertility of fancy and grace of style

of her earlier poems.




The mechanical processes of the

first paper were primitive enough. The ink was partly compounded of tar, and

the press-work was slow and hard. Composition rollers were unknown till the

secret of making them was brought here just ten years later by the late David

V. Culley, for many years president of the City Council. There were no mails at

all at first, and when a post-route was established soon afterwards its

deliveries were so irregular that the editors had to apologize once for the

deficiency of matter by saying that the failure of the mails had left them

without any news from abroad or any suitable material. Several post-routes were

opened during the spring, in addition to one to White Water, opened a few weeks

after the paper appeared first, but they came too late to relieve the urgent

necessity of the winter and spring. The incessant and heavy rains greatly

obstructed the main mail-route, and compelled the entire suspension of the

paper from the 3rd of April to the 4th of May by catching the editors away from

home and keeping the streams too deep to be forded. The first number appeared

on the 28th of January, the second on the 11th of February, the third on the

25th, the fourth March 6th, the fifth on the 18th, the sixth April 3rd, the

seventh May 4th. The growth and changes of the Gazette will be noticed

particularly in the sketch of the " Press." The first mail came very

closely after the first paper. For nearly two years such correspondence as had

been maintained between the new settlement and the older ones east and south on

the White Water and the Ohio, had been carried on by the hands of neighbors and

occasional travelers. On the 30th of January, 1822, a meeting of citizens was

held at the " Eagle Tavern" (Hawkins') to devise means to maintain a

private mail. The hope of a government mail does not seem to have been strong enough

to be cultivated. Aaron Drake was selected for the duty of private postmaster and

mail-carrier. He notified the postmasters all around of the arrangement that

had been made, and asked them to forward all letters for Indianapolis to Connersville,

where he would get them. " He returned from his first trip," says an

early sketch of the city, " shortly after nightfall, and the loud blasts

of his horn were heard far through the woods, and the whole people turned out

in the bright moonlight to greet him and hear the news." This effort

aroused the general government, and President Monroe appointed Samuel Henderson

first postmaster in February, 1822. He opened the office the first week in

March. A history of the office will be found in its proper place, and nothing

more need be said of it 'here, except that the first list of letters awaiting

delivery contained five names, one of them that of Mallory, the colored barber,

and first barber in the place. For some years, it is hard to say just how long,

the mails were carried on horseback, subsequently they were taken in

stagecoaches, and Indianapolis became nearly as conspicuous a stage center as

it is now a railroad center. For many years the J. & P. Vorhees Company had

large stables and coach-making and repairing shops here on the southwest corner

of Maryland and Pennsylvania Streets. They were abandoned about 1852, when the

advancing railroad lines began to absorb mails and passengers; but the music of

the " stage-horn" was long a pleasant sound in the ears of the old settler,

for it brought him the principal variation of the monotony of a village life,

except the regular winter sessions of the Legislature. For a short time during

the administration of Van Buren a mail-route or two was run here on horseback

in extra quick time, and called " express mails." The riders came

galloping along Washington Street, blowing little tin horns with a din that

delighted the school-boys, and for many a week they made night hideous with

their horns,




The winter of 1821-22, in spite

of the prostration and starvation of the preceding summer and fall, was pleasantly

passed in the main. The settlers becoming better acquainted, and frequently

rendering each indispensable neighborly offices in sickness and destitution,

were naturally well disposed to relieve the loneliness of an unusually severe

winter in an impassable forest with such social entertainments as were within reach,

so they kept up an almost unbroken round of quilting and dancing parties and

other modes of killing time when there was nothing to do to enable them to make

a better use of it. " A mania for marrying took possession of the young

people," says the early sketch, " and there was hardly a single bachelor

left in the place." The snow was very deep, and the river frozen so hard

that large logs were hauled across it on heavy " ox-sleds." On the

25th of February the Gazette said that a good deal of improvement had been

going on. Forty residences and several work-shops had been built, a grist-mill and

two saw-mills were in operation, and more were in progress near the place.

There were thirteen carpenters, four cabinet-makers, eight blacksmiths, four shoemakers,

two tailors, one hatter, two tanners, one saddler, one cooper, four

bricklayers, two merchants, three grocers, four doctors, three lawyers, one

preacher, one teacher, seven tavern-keepers. These alone would indicate a

population of about three hundred. But these were not alone: there were

probably enough more adult males to complete a roll of one hundred, and show a

population of five hundred.




The first election was coming

close as the protracted winter began to loosen its grip on the iron ground and

let the spring blossoms out to the sunlight. Candidates were pretty nearly as

numerous as voters. There were two parties, but not separated by national party

divisions. This was the " era of good feeling" in national politics.

The old " Federal" and "Republican" differences were

growing dim and the names unfamiliar. The division in the first election in Indianapolis

was geographical. " White Water" and " Kentucky" were the

names of might, and the voters took sides according to the direction they had traveled

to get here. Just what sort of a compromise was made by the settlers who came

in the first place from Kentucky, and resided for a while in the White Water

before moving to the New Purchase, there is no indication to direct. The "

White Water" leader was James M. Ray, the " Kentucky" chief

Morris Morris, father of Gen. Thomas A. Morris, the real general and victor in

the first campaign in West Virginia. The candidates for associate judges —

there were two — were Robert Patterson, James McIlvaine, James Page, Eliakim

Harding, John Smock, and Rev. John McClung. The candidates for clerk were James

M. Ray, Milo R. Davis, Morris Morris, Thomas Anderson, and John W. Redding. For

recorder there were Alexander Ralston, James Linton, Joseph C. Reed, Aaron

Drake, John Givan, John Hawkins, William Vandegrift, and William Townsend. No record

is left of the candidates for the three county commissionerships, but it is

said there were about fifteen of them. There were no caucuses or conventions or

primaries, and no obstruction to the ambition of any man that wanted to be a

candidate. The poll in the town showed two hundred and twenty-four votes, a

little more than one hundred probably being residents on the donation. In the

county three hundred and thirty-six votes were cast, including a good part of

all the counties around it. James McIlvaine and Eliakim Harding were elected

associate judges; James M. Ray, clerk; Joseph C. Reed, recorder; and John

McCormick, John T. Oshorn, and William McCartney, county .commissioners. James

M. Ray received two hundred and seventeen votes, which was the highest vote for

any candidate.




The newly-elected county

commissioners qualified and held their first session on the 15th of April, in the

house at the corner of Ohio and Meridian Streets, On the next day they divided

the county, embracing the very large area already described, into Fall Creek,

Anderson, White River, Delaware, Lawrence, Washington, Pike, Warren, Centre,

Wayne, Franklin, Perry, and Decatur townships. The first four were in the

territory afterwards formed into other counties. The following are the formally

declared boundaries of the townships as first constituted, which have composed

the county ever since, with a very few slight changes. Only the

"corners" are given, as they will enable any one to follow the lines

readily: 
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